Tom Horwood
Joint Chief Executive
of Guildford and Waverley
Borough Councils

www.guildford.gov.uk
Contact Officer:
Sophie Butcher, Democratic Services Officer
2 August 2022
Dear Councillor
Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE to be held in
the Council Chamber, Millmead House, Millmead, Guildford, Surrey GU2 4BB on
WEDNESDAY 10 AUGUST 2022 at 7.00 pm.
Whilst Committee members and key officers will be in attendance in person for the
meeting, registered speakers as well as ward councillors registered to speak, may also
join the meeting via MSTeams. Ward Councillors, please use the link in the Outlook
Calendar invitation. Registered speakers will be sent the link upon registration. If you
lose your wi-fi connectivity, please re-join using the telephone number +44 020 3855
4748. You will be prompted to input a conference ID: 786 411 324#.
Members of the public may watch the live webcast here: https://guildford.publici.
tv/core/portal/home
If you have Covid symptoms you should not attend the meeting.

Please note that a limited number of socially distanced seats will be available. Please
contact the Democratic Services Officer to confirm. If registered speakers wish to attend
in person, the seating will be allocated to them first.
Face masks will be required to enter the Council building and Council Chamber. You may
wish to wear a facemask for the duration of the meeting, however, as long as a 2 metre
social distance is maintained, the wearing of a facemask is not required.
Hand sanitisers will be available on arrival and departure, please use them regularly.
Yours faithfully
Tom Horwood
Joint Chief Executive

Page 1

Guildford Borough Council
Millmead House, Millmead, Guildford, Surrey GU2 4BB

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE
Chairman: Councillor Fiona White
Vice-Chairman: Councillor Colin Cross
Councillor Jon Askew
Councillor Christopher Barrass
Councillor David Bilbé
Councillor Chris Blow
Councillor Ruth Brothwell
Councillor Angela Goodwin
Councillor Angela Gunning

Councillor Liz Hogger
Councillor Marsha Moseley
Councillor Ramsey Nagaty
Councillor Maddy Redpath
Councillor Pauline Searle
Councillor Paul Spooner

Authorised Substitute Members:
The Mayor, Councillor Dennis Booth
Councillor Guida Esteves
Councillor Graham Eyre
Councillor Andrew Gomm
Councillor Steven Lee
Councillor Nigel Manning
Councillor Ted Mayne
Councillor Bob McShee
Councillor Susan Parker

Councillor George Potter
Councillor Jo Randall
Councillor Tony Rooth
Councillor Will Salmon
Councillor Deborah Seabrook
Councillor Cait Taylor
Councillor James Walsh
Councillor Keith Witham
Councillor Catherine Young

QUORUM 5

Page 2

THE COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK (2021- 2025)
Our Vision:
A green, thriving town and villages where people have the homes they need, access to quality
employment, with strong and safe communities that come together to support those needing
help.
Our Mission:
A trusted, efficient, innovative, and transparent Council that listens and responds quickly to the
needs of our community.
Our Values:










We will put the interests of our community first.
We will listen to the views of residents and be open and accountable in our decision-making.
We will deliver excellent customer service.
We will spend money carefully and deliver good value for money services.
We will put the environment at the heart of our actions and decisions to deliver on our
commitment to the climate change emergency.
We will support the most vulnerable members of our community as we believe that every
person matters.
We will support our local economy.
We will work constructively with other councils, partners, businesses, and communities to
achieve the best outcomes for all.
We will ensure that our councillors and staff uphold the highest standards of conduct.

Our strategic priorities:
Homes and Jobs







Revive Guildford town centre to unlock its full potential
Provide and facilitate housing that people can afford
Create employment opportunities through regeneration
Support high quality development of strategic sites
Support our business community and attract new inward investment
Maximise opportunities for digital infrastructure improvements and smart places
technology

Environment





Provide leadership in our own operations by reducing carbon emissions, energy
consumption and waste
Engage with residents and businesses to encourage them to act in more
environmentally sustainable ways through their waste, travel, and energy choices
Work with partners to make travel more sustainable and reduce congestion
Make every effort to protect and enhance our biodiversity and natural environment.
Page 3

Community





Tackling inequality in our communities
Work with communities to support those in need
Support the unemployed back into the workplace and facilitate opportunities for
residents to enhance their skills
Prevent homelessness and rough-sleeping in the borough

Page 4

AGENDA
1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS

2

LOCAL CODE OF CONDUCT - DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
In accordance with the local Code of Conduct, a councillor is required to
disclose at the meeting any disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI) that they may
have in respect of any matter for consideration on this agenda. Any councillor
with a DPI must not participate in any discussion or vote regarding that matter
and they must also withdraw from the meeting immediately before
consideration of the matter.
If that DPI has not been registered, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of
the details of the DPI within 28 days of the date of the meeting.
Councillors are further invited to disclose any non-pecuniary interest which may
be relevant to any matter on this agenda, in the interests of transparency, and
to confirm that it will not affect their objectivity in relation to that matter.

3

MINUTES (Pages 17 - 24)
To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 13 July 2022
as attached at Item 3. A copy of the minutes will be placed on the dais prior to
the meeting.

4

ANNOUNCEMENTS
To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Committee.

5

PLANNING AND RELATED APPLICATIONS (Pages 25 - 26)
All current applications between numbers 21/P/01337 and 22/P/00825 which
are not included on the above-mentioned List, will be considered at a future
meeting of the Committee or determined under delegated powers. Members
are requested to consider and determine the Applications set out in the Index
of Applications.

6

5.1

21/P/01337 - St Germain, The Warren, East Horsley, Leatherhead, KT24
5RH (Pages 27 - 44)

5.2

22/P/00687 - Lancaster Volvo Garage, Guildford, Pirbright, Woking
GU24 0LW (Pages 45 - 58)

5.3

22/P/00825 - Springwell, Pincott Lane, West Horsley, Leatherhead,
KT24 6JH (Pages 59 - 68)

PLANNING APPEAL DECISIONS (Pages 69 - 88)
Committee members are asked to note the details of Appeal Decisions as
attached at Item 6.
Page 5

WEBCASTING NOTICE
This meeting will be recorded for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the Council’s website in
accordance with the Council’s capacity in performing a task in the public interest and in line with
the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014. The whole of the meeting will be
recorded, except where there are confidential or exempt items, and the footage will be on the
website for six months.
If you have any queries regarding webcasting of meetings, please contact Committee Services.

Page 6

NOTES:
(i) Procedure for determining planning and related applications:
1.

A Planning Officer will present the Officer’s Report virtually by sharing the
presentation on Microsoft Office Teams as part of the live meeting which all
committee members will be able to see online. For members of the public, able to
dial into the meeting, copies of the presentation will be loaded onto the website to
view and will be published on the Tuesday of the same week prior to the meeting.
Planning officers will make it clear during the course of their presentation which
slides they are referring to at all times.

2.

Members of the public who have registered to speak may then address the
meeting in accordance with the agreed procedure for public speaking (a maximum
of two objectors followed by a maximum of two supporters). Public speakers must
observe social distancing rules, if attending in person. If joining online, public
speakers will be sent an invite by the Democratic Services Officer (DSO) via
Microsoft Office Teams to attend online or via a telephone number and
conference ID code as appropriate to the public speakers needs. Prior to the
consideration of each application which qualifies for public speaking, the DSO will
ensure all public speakers are online. If public speakers cannot access the
appropriate equipment to participate, or owing to unexpected IT issues
experienced they cannot participate in the meeting, they are advised to submit
their three-minute speech to the Democratic Services Officer by no later than
midday the day before the meeting. In such circumstances, the DSO will read out
their speech. Alternatively, public speakers may wish to attend the meeting in
person in the Council Chamber.

3.

The Chairman gives planning officer’s the right to reply in response to comments
that have been made during the public speaking session.

4.

Any councillor(s) who are not member(s) of the Planning Committee, but who wish
to speak on an application, either in or outside of their ward, will be then allowed
for no longer than three minutes each. It will be at the Chairman’s discretion to
permit councillor(s) to speak for longer than three minutes and will have joined
the meeting remotely via MSTeams. [Councillors should notify the Committee
Officer, in writing, by no later than midday the day before the meeting of their
intention to speak and send the DSO a copy of their speech so it can be read out
on their behalf should they lose their wi-fi connection.] If the application is
deferred, any councillor(s) who are not member(s) of the Planning Committee will
not be
permitted to speak when the application is next considered by the Committee.

5.

The Chairman will then open up the application for debate. The Chairman will ask
which councillors wish to speak on the application and determine the order of
Page 7

speaking accordingly. At the end of the debate, the Chairman will check that all
members had had an opportunity to speak should they wish to do so.
(a) No speech shall be longer than three minutes for all Committee members. As
soon as a councillor starts speaking, the DSO will activate the timer. The DSO
will advise when there are 30 seconds remaining and when the three minutes
has concluded;

(b) No councillor to speak more than once during the debate on the application;
(c) Members shall avoid repetition of points made earlier in the debate.
(d) The Chairman gives planning officer’s the right to reply in response to
comments that have been made during the debate, and prior to the vote being
taken.
(e) Once the debate has concluded, the Chairman will automatically move the
officer’s recommendation following the debate on that item. If it is seconded,
the motion is put to the vote. The Chairman will confirm verbally which
councillor has seconded a motion A simple majority vote is required for the
motion to be carried. If it is not seconded or the motion is not carried then the
Chairman will ask for a second alternative motion to be put to the vote. The
vote will be taken by roll call or by affirmation if there is no dissent
In any case where the motion is contrary to officer recommendation that is:


Approval to refusal, or;



Refusal to approval;



Or where the motion proposes additional reasons for refusal, or
additional conditions to be included in any planning permission. The
following procedure shall be followed:



Where the alternative motion is to propose a refusal, the proposer of the
motion shall be expected to state the harm (where applicable) and the
relevant policy(ies) to justify the motion. In advance of the vote,
provided that any such proposal has been properly moved and seconded,
the Chairman shall discuss with relevant officers and the mover and
seconder of the motion, the reason(s), conditions (where applicable) and
policy(ies) put forward to ensure that they are sufficiently precise, state
the harm (where applicable) and support the correct policies to justify the
motion. All participants and members of the public will be able to hear
the discussion between the Chairman and the relevant officers and the
mover and seconder of the
motion. Following the discussion the
Page 8

Chairman will put to the Committee the motion and the reason(s) for the
decision before moving to the vote. The vote will be taken by roll call or
by affirmation, if there is no dissent.
(f) A motion can also be proposed and seconded at any time to defer or adjourn
consideration of an application (for example for further information/advice
backed by supporting reasons).
(g) Technical difficulties during the meeting. If the Chairman or the DSO identifies
a failure of the remote participation facility and a connection to a Committee
Member is lost during the meeting, the Chairman will stop the meeting to
enable the connection to be restored. If the connection cannot be restored
within a reasonable time, the meeting will proceed, provided that it remains
quorate. If the Member who was disconnected is subsequently re-connected
and they have missed any part of the debate on the matter under discussion,
they will not be able to vote on that matter as they would not have heard all
the facts.
6.

Unless otherwise decided by a majority of councillors present and voting by roll
call at the meeting, all Planning Committee meetings shall finish by no later than
10:30pm.
Any outstanding items not completed by the end of the meeting shall be
adjourned to the reconvened or next ordinary meeting of the Committee.

7.

In order for a planning application to be referred to the full Council for
determination in its capacity as the Local Planning Authority, a councillor must
first with a seconder, write/email the Democratic Services Manager detailing the
rationale for the request (the proposer and seconder does not have to be a
planning committee member).
The Democratic Services Manager shall inform all councillors by email of the
request to determine an application by full Council, including the rationale
provided for that request. The matter would then be placed as an agenda item
for consideration at the next Planning Committee meeting. The proposer and
seconder would each be given three minutes to state their case. The decision to
refer a planning application to the full Council will be decided by a majority vote
of the Planning Committee.

Page 9

GUIDANCE NOTE
For Planning Committee Members
Probity in Planning – Role of Councillors
Councillors on the Planning Committee sit as a non-judicial body, but act in a
semi-judicial capacity, representative of the whole community in making
decisions on planning applications. They must, therefore:
1. act fairly, openly and apolitically;
2. approach each planning application with an open mind,
avoid pre-conceived opinions;
3. carefully weigh up all relevant issues;
4. determine each application on its individual planning
merits;
5. avoid undue contact with interested parties; and
6. ensure that the reasons for their decisions are clearly
stated.
The above role applies to councillors who are nominated substitutes on the
Planning Committee. Where a councillor, who is neither a member of, nor a
substitute on the Planning Committee, attends a meeting of the Committee, he
or she is also under a duty to act fairly and openly and avoid any actions which
might give rise to an impression of bias or undue influence.
Equally, the conduct of members of any working party or committee considering
planning policy must be similar to that outlined above relating to the Planning
Committee.
Reason for Refusal
How a reason for refusal is constructed.
A reason for refusal should carefully describe the harm of the development as
well as detailing any conflicts with policies or proposals in the development plan
which are relevant to the decision.
When formulating reasons for refusal Members will need to:
(1) Describe those elements of the proposal that are harmful, e.g. bulk, massing,
lack of something, loss of something.
(2) State what the harm is e.g. character, openness of the green belt, retail
function and;
(3) The reason will need to make reference to policy to justify the refusal.
Page 10

Example
The proposed change of use would result in the loss of A1 retail frontage at Guildford
Town Centre, which would be detrimental to the retail function of the town and
contrary to policy SS9 in the Guildford Local Plan.
Reason for Approval
How a reason for approval is constructed.
A reason for approval should carefully detail a summary of the reasons for the grant of
planning permission and a summary of the policies and proposals in the development
plan, which are relevant to the decision.
Example:
The proposal has been found to comply with Green Belt policy as it relates to a
replacement dwelling and would not result in any unacceptable harm to the openness or
visual amenities of the Green Belt. As such the proposal is found to comply with saved
policies RE2 and H6 of the Council’s saved Local Plan and national Green Belt policy in
the NPPF.
Reason for Deferral
Applications should only be deferred if the Committee feels that it requires further
information or to enable further discussions with the applicant or in exceptional
circumstances to enable a collective site visit to be undertaken.
Clear reasons for a deferral must be provided with a summary of the policies in the
development plan which are relevant to the deferral.

Page 11

APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION & RELATED APPLICATIONS FOR
CONSIDERATION BY THE PLANNING COMMITTEE
NOTES:
Officers Report
Officers have prepared a report for each planning or related application on the
Planning Committee Index which details: Site location plan;
 Site Description;
 Proposal;
 Planning History;
 Consultations; and
 Planning Policies and Considerations.
Each report also includes a recommendation to either approve or refuse the
application. Recommended reason(s) for refusal or condition(s) of approval and
reason(s) including informatives are set out in full in each report.
Written Representations
Copies of representations received in respect of the applications listed are available
for inspection by Councillors at the plans viewing session held prior to the meeting
and will also be available at the meeting. Late representations will be summarised in
a report which will be circulated at the meeting.
Planning applications and any representations received in relation to applications are
available for inspection at the Planning Services reception by prior arrangement with
the Head of Planning Services.
Background Papers
In preparing the reports relating to applications referred to on the Planning
Committee Index, the Officers refer to the following background documents:

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004, the Localism Act and other current Acts, Statutory Instruments and
Circulars as published by the Department for Communities and Local
Government (CLG).



Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2015-2034.



The South East Plan, Regional Spatial Strategy for the South East (May 2009).



The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (March 2012)



The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995,
as amended (2010).

Page 12



Consultation responses and other correspondence as contained in the
application file, together with such other files and documents which may
constitute the history of the application site or other sites in the locality.

Human Rights Act 1998
The Human Rights Act 1998 (the 1998 Act) came into effect in October 2000 when the
provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights (the ECHR) were incorporated
into UK Law.
The determination of the applications which are the subject of reports are considered to
involve the following human rights issues:
1 Article 6(1):

right to a fair and public hearing

In the determination of a person’s civil rights and obligations everyone is entitled to a
fair and public hearing within a reasonable time by an independent and impartial
tribunal established by law. Judgment shall be pronounced publicly but the press and
public may be excluded from all or part of the hearing in certain circumstances (e.g. in
the interest of morals, strictly necessary in the opinion of the court in special
circumstances where publicity would prejudice the interests of justice.)
2 Article 8:
right to respect for private and family life (including where
the article 8 rights are those of children s.11 of the Children Act 2004)
Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his
correspondence. There shall be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of
this right except such as is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic
society in the interests of national security, public safety or the economic well-being of
the country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or
morals, or for the protection of the rights and freedoms of others.
s.11 of the Childrens Act 2004 requires the Council to make arrangements for ensuring
that their functions are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard and promote
the welfare of children. Furthermore, any services provided by another person pursuant
to arrangements made by the Council in the discharge of their functions must likewise
be provided having regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of
children.
3 Article 14:

prohibition from discrimination

The enjoyment of the rights and freedoms set out in the ECHR shall be secured without
discrimination on any ground such as sex, race, colour, language, religion, political or
other opinion, national or social origin, association with a national minority, property,
birth or other status.
4 Article 1 Protocol 1: protection of property;
Every person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his possessions. No one shall be
deprived of their possessions except in the public interest and subject to the conditions
provided for by law and by the general principles of international law. However, the
Page 13

state retains the right to enforce such laws as it deems necessary to control the use of
property in accordance with the general interest or to secure the payment of taxes or
other contributions or penalties.
5 Article 2 Protocol 1: right to education.
No person shall be denied the right to education.
Councillors should take account of the provisions of the 1998 Act as they relate to the
applications on this agenda when balancing the competing interests of the applicants,
any third party opposing the application and the community as a whole in reaching their
decision. Any interference with an individual’s human rights under the 1998 Act/ECHR
must be just and proportionate to the objective in question and must not be arbitrary,
unfair or oppressive. Having had regard to those matters in the light of the convention
rights referred to above your officers consider that the recommendations are in
accordance with the law, proportionate and both necessary to protect the rights and
freedoms of others and in the public interest.
Costs
In planning appeals the parties involved normally meet their own costs. Most appeals do
not result in a costs application. A costs award where justified is an order which states
that one party shall pay to another party the costs, in full or part, which has been
incurred during the process by which the Secretary of State or Inspector’s decision is
reached. Any award made will not necessary follow the outcome of the appeal. An
unsuccessful appellant is not expected to reimburse the planning authority for the costs
incurred in defending the appeal. Equally the costs of a successful appellant are not
bourne by the planning authority as a matter of course.
However, where:




A party has made a timely application for costs
The party against whom the award is sought has behaved unreasonably; and
The unreasonable behaviour has directly caused the party applying for the costs
to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process a full or partial
award is likely.

The word “unreasonable” is used in its ordinary meaning as established in the courts in
Manchester City Council v SSE & Mercury Communications Limited 1988 JPL 774.
Behaviour which is regarded as unreasonable may be procedural or substantive in
nature. Procedural relates to the process. Substantive relates to the issues arising on the
appeal. The authority is at risk of an award of costs against it if it prevents or delays
development, which should clearly be permitted having regard to the development plan.
The authority must produce evidence to show clearly why the development cannot be
permitted. The authority’s decision notice must be carefully framed and should set out
the full reasons for refusal. Reasons should be complete, precise, specific and relevant to
the application. The Planning authority must produce evidence at appeal stage to
substantiate each reason for refusal with reference to the development plan and all
other material considerations. If the authority cannot do so it is at risk of a costs award
being made against it for unreasonable behaviour. The key test is whether evidence is
Page 14

produced on appeal which provides a respectable basis for the authority’s stance in the
light of R v SSE ex parte North Norfolk DC 1994 2 PLR 78. If one reason is not properly
supported but substantial evidence has been produced in support of the others a partial
award may be made against the authority. Further advice can be found in the
Department of Communities and Local Government Circular 03/2009 and now Planning
Practice Guidance: Appeals paragraphs 027-064 inclusive.

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda item number: 3

PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 JULY 2022

PLANNING COMMITTEE

* Councillor Fiona White (Chairman)
* Councillor Colin Cross (Vice-Chairman)
* Councillor Jon Askew
Councillor Christopher Barrass
Councillor David Bilbé
* Councillor Chris Blow
* Councillor Ruth Brothwell
* Councillor Angela Goodwin
* Councillor Angela Gunning

* Councillor Liz Hogger
* Councillor Marsha Moseley
* Councillor Ramsey Nagaty
Councillor Maddy Redpath
* Councillor Pauline Searle
Councillor Paul Spooner

*Present
PL1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS

Apologies were received from Councillors Chris Barrass, David Bilbé, Paul Spooner and Maddy
Redpath. Councillors Graham Eyre and Deborah Seabrook attended as substitutes for
Councillors Paul Spooner and Maddy Redpath respectively.
PL2

LOCAL CODE OF CONDUCT - DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS

No disclosable pecuniary interests were declared.
21/P/01496 – 86 The Mount, Guildford, GU2 4JB
Councillor Deborah Seabrook declared a non-pecuniary interest in the above application given
that she knew some of the people who had submitted objections. Councillor Seabrook
confirmed that the objectors had not contacted her about the application and it would not
affect her own judgement, approaching the discussion on the application with an open mind to
all the arguments made.
PL3

MINUTES

The minutes of the Planning Committee held on 15 June 2022 were approved and signed by
the Chairman.
PL4

ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Committee noted the procedure for determining planning applications.
PL5

21/P/02403 - TRANQUILITY, 12 CONFORD DRIVE, SHALFORD, GUILDFORD, GU4 8DX

Prior to consideration of the application, the following persons addressed the Committee in
accordance with Public Speaking Procedure Rules 3(b):



Mr Ian Camfield (to object) and;
Mr Christopher Bailey-Gates (to object)
Page 17

Agenda item number: 3

PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 JULY 2022

The Committee considered the above-mentioned full application for a side infill extension, side
extension, and first floor extension, following removal and replacement of existing pitched
roof.
The Committee received a presentation from the planning officer, John Busher. The
Committee noted that the application was located on Conford Drive which was off the
Horsham Road in Shalford. The site was suburban and residential in character, with dwellings
to the north. To the south and east, the site was covered by a TPO which protected the
existing trees in the western and northern boundaries. The proposal was for modifications and
extensions to an existing bungalow, including the provision of some first-floor
accommodation. The existing bungalow was a modest sized property which included an
internal garage and was set on a large corner plot. The surrounding area was comprised of
mainly bungalows of a similar design and scale with some two-storey dwellings located
opposite.
A small extension was proposed to the western elevation and a very small extension on the
eastern elevation. The dwelling would fit comfortably within the plot. The common boundary
with the neighbouring property would be set a significant distance away, the rear element of
the first floor set 5 metres off the boundary and 8 metres between the two side elevations of
the host property. The new rear elevation would be 17 metres to the boundary to the south.
Planning officers had visited both neighbouring sites which would be most impacted by the
proposal and whilst it was accepted that there would be some loss of light to number 11
Conford Drive, it would not be to an extent which would materially harm the occupiers of the
dwelling. The proposal included numerous areas of flat roof which had been raised by the
objectors to the application. However, the applicant had confirmed that there was no
intention to use those areas of flat roof as amenity space and was also controlled by condition
6.
The remodelled dwelling would be of a modern contemporary design with a flat roof featuring
glazing that would be finished with timber cladding. The new dwelling would not be significantly
taller than the existing house. It was acknowledged that the design would be different to the existing
properties on Conford Drive, however, it was Officer’s view that the proposal would not result in any
harm to the character or appearance of the surroundings.

Planning officers were comfortable with the design, size and scale of the property and had
concluded that the proposal was compliant with the Local Plan. Officers had also carefully
assessed the impact on the neighbouring properties and whilst there would be some limited
impact on the amenity of number 11 Conford Drive, it would not be of a level which would
warrant the refusal of the application.
The planning officer, John Busher confirmed in response to comments made by the public
speakers that the plans that had been submitted by the applicant were sufficient enough to be
able to assess the impact upon neighbouring properties. In terms of the increase in floor area
of 88%, that figure could not be verified, however, the site was not located in the Green Belt
and the Council did not have any policies to restrict the size of houses in the settlement areas.
In terms of policies, G1 and G5 were mentioned. G1 was the policy used to assess the impact
upon neighbouring amenity which was relevant and policy D1 in the new Local Plan.

Page 18

Agenda item number: 3

PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 JULY 2022

The Head of Place, Dan Ledger confirmed that government regulations determined what was
required for the validation of an application, the application in this instance met those
requirements and therefore there was more that sufficient information to make a
recommendation. In terms of the comments made regarding whether it should have been a
householder or full application, the planners were bound to consider the application as
submitted. There was also an information on the recommendation which set out that if during
the course of development they were required to remove the whole building and it became a
replacement rather than an extension, an appropriate application would then need to be
submitted. The Committee therefore had to determine what was before it on the basis of it
submitted as an extension.
The Committee discussed the application and noted the increase in height of the new dwelling
from 4.7 metres to 6.1 metres, which was considered would not have a significant impact on
the neighbouring kitchen window. However, whilst it was an extension and not a redevelopment, it still represented a significant extension and therefore asked if a condition
could be applied to regulate the hours of work. The Committee was also concerned regarding
the level of works that would take place in a small quiet cul-de-sac. The Committee noted
concerns raised that the size of the proposed property was out of character with the existing
area and represented an overdevelopment.
The Head of Place, Dan Ledger clarified that in terms of the proposed condition regarding
regulating the hours of work it was not normally the type of condition applied to works that
involved extensions. However, it was something that could be added into the
recommendation if the Committee agreed it was reasonable to do so. In addition, in response
to comments regarding the architectural design and impact on character, just because
something introduces a different style did not mean that it was out of character. The main
consideration was to establish what harm would be caused by the development. The officers
report did allude to the fact that the site was located in an area which was characterised by
dwellings of mixed character. The proposed dwelling was also respectful of the scale and
height and proportions of the existing dwelling on Conford Drive. With regard to the first-floor
accommodation the applicant could have taken a different route which would have resulted in
a much bigger and taller building. However, the flat roof reduced the height, bulk and massing
of the dwelling so overall planning officers had concluded that it did respect the scale and
character of the existing dwelling on Conford Drive.
The Committee noted further concerns raised regarding the sites position on a corner plot as
well as the narrowness of the drive and how to control construction vehicles. The Head of
Place confirmed that conditions such as Construction Transport Management Plans tended to
be restricted for large developments and therefore the reasonableness of applying such a
condition had to be considered.
Concerns were also raised regarding a landing window and the potential for overlooking to
number 11. The Committee noted that it would not be obscure glazed given the large
separation distance between both properties and the fact that it was a narrow window it was
not necessary.
The Committee voted on a motion to include an hours of work condition which was approved
as per condition 8. (9:2:2 – not a recorded vote).
Page 19

Agenda item number: 3

PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 JULY 2022

The Committee also voted on a motion regarding controlling traffic and parking onsite which
was lost. (10:1:2 – not a recorded vote).
A motion was moved and seconded to approve the application which was carried.
RECORDED VOTE LIST

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13

COUNCILLOR
Angela Gunning
Pauline Searle
Liz Hogger
Deborah Seabrook
Colin Cross
Fiona White
Ruth Brothwell
Angela Goodwin
Chris Blow
Marsha Moseley
Ramsey Nagaty
Jon Askew
Graham Eyre

FOR

AGAINST

ABSTAIN

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
TOTALS

9

X
4

0

In conclusion, having taken account of the representations received in relation to this
application, the Committee
RESOLVED to approve application 21/P/02403 subject to the conditions and reasons as detailed
in the report and additional condition 8:
8. Works related to the construction of the development hereby permitted, including works of
demolition or preparation prior to building operations, shall not take place other than between
the hours of 0800 and 1800 Mondays to Fridays and between 0800 and 1300 Saturdays and at
no time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.
Reason: To protect the neighbours from disturbance outside the permitted hours during the
construction period.
PL6

21/P/01496 - 86 THE MOUNT, GUILDFORD, GU2 4JB

The Committee considered the above-mentioned full application for construction of a new two
storey dwelling (with room in the roof) with basement level and associated external works
following demolition of existing bungalow and garage. (Amended plans received 05.11.21 to
reduce height and remove roof terrace).
The Committee received a presentation from the planning officer, John Busher. The
Committee noted that the site was located at the upper end of the Mount in the urban area of
Guildford. The proposal was for the replacement of the existing bungalow which occupied the
site with a new dwelling which would be set over four floors. The existing bungalow was a
Page 20

Agenda item number: 3

PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 JULY 2022

modest sized property with two bedrooms. The property benefitted from a detached garage
which was located to the front of the site level with the Mount. The proposed dwelling
stretched boundary to boundary across the width of the site as well as garage accommodation
to the front. The existing bungalow was modest in size and sat comfortably within the
streetscene however the proposed dwelling was built with a minimal gap to the western
boundary and closer proximity to number 84. The proposed new dwelling would be a poor and
bland design. The large dormer on the side elevation gives the dwelling an unbalanced
appearance which was further exacerbated by the proposed roofscape. The different eaves
heights resulted in a property which was cramped on a narrow site compared to other
properties within the surrounding area. The lack of space to the side boundaries would also
cause harm to the amenities of number 84a The Mount located to the east of the application
site. The maximum ridge height of the proposed dwelling would be 3.8 metres higher than the
neighbouring property, and the considerable difference in height of the two dwellings
combined with a replacement dwelling being spread across the full width of the site and its
overall scale and mass would result in an overbearing impact on number 84. The application
was therefore recommended for refusal as it was deemed contrary to policies D1 of the 2019
Local Plan and G1 of the 2003 Local Plan.
The Chairman permitted Councillor Cait Taylor to speak in her capacity as ward councillor on
the application for three minutes.
The Committee noted comments made that the main volume of the proposed home was
accepted in the officer’s report. A garage would be provided with no car space to the front
which was a more sensible use of the plot space. The area was characterised by a mix of
property styles with many having rooms in the roof. Out of 45 homes only 4 were chalet
bungalows. The rest were at least all two storey homes. The proposed scheme at no.86 only
marginally increased the footprint of the existing bungalow and did not project any further to
the rear than the existing bungalow and did not represent a form of over-development. The
neighbouring property at no.88 was significantly larger and was in full view when travelling
along the Mount. It was therefore difficult to understand how a two-storey home with a roof
pitch less than the plot above was an issue. The architect had created a contemporary design,
using natural materials, minimising the carbon footprint of the home. The design attempted to
create a balanced composition of the volumes using the changes in materials to emphasise the
key activity areas. The dwelling did not extend the full width of the site and was only 58cm
wider to the street frontage than the existing bungalow and 38cm to the side to the east of the
site.
The Committee discussed the application and was interested to know if the size of the rooms
were equivalent to the National Space Standards as they appeared much bigger and whether
that had influenced the width of the property. The Committee also noted comments that the
applicant was trying to achieve a lifetime home standard which was a positive in creating
enhanced disabled access if needed in the future, a disabled bathroom if needed, electric
vehicle charging points and bicycle storage. Concerns were also raised regarding the overall
volume of the proposed property.
The Committee noted a query regarding the location of the site boundary and whether access
was provided via the Mount as it would be narrower than it was originally. Further comments
were noted that the property appeared top heavy and cramped on a narrow site. House
Page 21

Agenda item number: 3

PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 JULY 2022

numbers 88 and 90 were also located on significantly larger site. The wall facing no 84A would
also be a blank brick wall and was therefore an overbearing form of development.
The Head of Place, Dan Ledger confirmed that the room sizes proposed would have been
compliant with the national space standards. With regard to the site plan it related to the
parking for the neighbouring property where the existing parking situation was to be retained.
A car port was proposed for the new dwelling which gives a raised garden above the car port
which would provide the parking for the new dwelling.
A motion was moved and seconded to refuse application 21/P/01496 which was carried.
RECORDED VOTE LIST

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13

COUNCILLOR
Chris Blow
Angela Goodwin
Fiona White
Jon Askew
Pauline Searle
Liz Hogger
Ramsey Nagaty
Colin Cross
Angela Gunning
Deborah Seabrook
Ruth Brothwell
Marsha Moseley
Graham Eyre

FOR

TOTALS

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
13

AGAINST

ABSTAIN

0

0

In conclusion, having taken account of the representations received in relation to the
application, the Committee
RESOLVED to refuse application 21/P/01496 for the reasons as outlined in the report.
PL7

PLANNING APPEAL DECISIONS

The Committee noted and discussed the planning appeals.

The meeting finished at 8.10 pm

Page 22

Agenda item number: 3

PLANNING COMMITTEE
13 JULY 2022

Signed

Date
Chairman

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda item number: 5
GUILDFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE INDEX
10/08/2022
Item
No.

Parish

Applicant

Location

App.No.

5.1

East
Horsley

St Germain, The Warren, East
Horsley, Leatherhead, KT24 5RH

21/P/01337 APPC

27.

5.2

Pirbright

45.

West
Horsley

Lancaster Volvo Garage, Guildford
Road, Pirbright, Woking, GU24
0LW
Springwell, Pincott Lane, West
Horsley, Leatherhead, KT24 6JH

22/P/00687 APPC

5.3

Mrs W
Gathercole, St
Germain
Mr Slaughter,
Squire Furneaux
Guildford
Mrs Sarita
Schmid,
Springwell

22/P/00825 APPC

59.

Total Applications for Committee

3

Page 25

Rec.

Page

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda item number: 5(1)

Page 27

Agenda item number: 5(1)
21/P/01337 – St Germain, The Warren, East Horsley, Leatherhead

NotPage
to scale
28

Agenda item number: 5(1)

21/P/01337
App No:
Full Application
Appn Type:
Case Officer: James Overall
Parish: East Horsley
Agent : Mr Michael Conoley
Michael Conoley Associates
The Old Forge
The Green
Elstead
GU8 6DD
Location:
Proposal:

8 Wk Deadline: 23/08/2021
Clandon & Horsley
Ward:
Applicant: Mrs W. Gathercole
St Germain
The Warren
East Horsley
KT24 5RH

St Germain, The Warren, East Horsley, Leatherhead, KT24 5RH
Erection of a single dwelling and detached garage on the land to the
rear of St Germain.

Reason for referral
This application has been referred to the Planning Committee because more than 20 letters of
objection have been received, contrary to the Officer's recommendation.
Key Information
The application site consists of a portion of the rear garden of the property known as St Germain.
St Germain is a large detached dwelling set in extensive grounds. The site is bordered by
extensive gardens associated with neighbouring detached dwellings (Chantry Cottage to the
north and Braeside to the south). To the east the site adjoining the rear garden on Langdale
Cottage.
The site is accessed off of The Warren, which is a private drive. The houses along The Warren
consist of large detached two storey dwellings, of traditional surrey vernacular, set in large
gardens.
The site comprises landscaped gardens, the majority of which is laid to lawn. There are a number
of large trees and mature hedgerows which sit on the borders of the site, screening it from
neighbouring properties. The site itself slopes from west to east.
The site is located within the Green Belt, but within the settlement boundary of East Horsley. It is
within Flood Zone 1 and has no TPO's or other environmental designations.
The site sits outside of the Surrey Hills AONB but the boundary lies 0.3km to the east and 0.7km
to the west of the site.
The site sits within the 5km to 7km buffer zone of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection
Area.
Proposal:
Erection of a single dwelling and detached garage on the land to the rear of St Germain.
Housing mix:
1 x 5-bed dwelling
Parking provision:
2 car parking spaces are provided.

Page 29

Agenda item number: 5(1)

Summary of Considerations and Constraints
The site is located within the Green Belt but falls within the identified settlement area of East
Horsley, where limited infilling is considered appropriate. The site is sustainably located, within
the existing urban area. The proposals are for the erection of a new 5 bed dwelling in the rear
garden of St Germain, the garden is shaped in such a way that the site proposed for the new
dwelling appears as spare land that lends itself to development such as the proposed. As such it
is considered the proposals meet the requirements of limited infilling.
The Warren is a private residential road which features large detached properties of varying
designs but predominantly of a "surrey style" vernacular. The proposed development is relatively
modern in design; however, within the wider East Horsley area there are examples of more
modern developments which add interest to the built form of the area. In terms of scale and
massing the proposals sit cohesively into The Warren. The proposed development is set back
from the main frontage of The Warren which results in very limited views into the site from the
Warren itself. As such, despite the deviation from the prevailing character of The Warren, it is
considered that by virtue of its siting the proposed development will not have a detrimental effect
on the character of development in The Warren and reflects the prevailing character of the East
Horsley area.
The proposals exceed requirements in relation to residential amenity and it is considered that
owing to the extensive existing vegetation surrounding the development site, there will be no
significant impacts on neighbouring amenity.
The proposals are modest in scale relative to the plot and surroundings, and therefore it is
considered there will be no significant impacts in relation to highways. The access is formed by
the reopening of the "out" of the previous "in out" driveway at St Germain.
The proposals have been designed to achieve a high degree of Sustainability, exceeding GBC
requirements. A carbon emission reduction of 20% has been shown to be achievable, and
through careful design and implementation of standards above those required by Building
Regulations the proposal is striving towards Passivhaus standards.
There are no significant impacts expected on biodiversity, protected species or trees. Necessary
conditions can be added to any permission in order to secure ecological enhancements and the
protection of existing trees.
Overall, the scheme is considered to represent a sustainable form of development, making
effective use of a suitable and accessible site, with the proposals giving rise to no significant
adverse impacts or conflicts with adopted policies.
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve - subject to the following condition(s) and reason(s) :1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.

Page 30

Agenda item number: 5(1)

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51(1) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.
2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:
· Existing Site Plan and Site Location Plan (1469/S-01)
· Proposed Site Plan (1469/P-01)
· Proposed St Germain Part-Plans and Elevations (1469/P-05)
· Proposed Site Sections (1469/P-06)
· Materials Schedule April 2021 (Ref: 1469)
received on 16 June 2021.
· Proposed New Dwelling Plans (1469/P-02)
· Proposed New Dwelling Elevations (1469/P-03)
· Proposed Garage Plans and Elevations (1469/P-04)
received on 28 June 2021.
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with
the approved plans and in the interests of proper planning.

3.

Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme of ecological
enhancements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the proposals demonstrate a biodiversity net gain.

4.

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a detailed
surface water drainage scheme, along with a management and
maintenance plan, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The design shall demonstrate compliance with the
SuDS Hierarchy, and be in broad accordance with the following documents.
The surface water system shall be installed prior to the first occupation of
any dwelling, and shall thereafter be maintained at all times in accordance
with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development does not increase flood risk on or off
site.

5.

No development shall take place until an Arboricultural Method Statement
(detailing all aspects of construction and staging of works) and a Tree
Protection Plan, all in accordance with British Standard 5837:2012, has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Page 31

Agenda item number: 5(1)

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed method
statement and no equipment, machinery or materials shall be brought onto
the site for the purposes of the development until tree protection measures
and any other pre-commencement measures as set out in the AMS and
TPP, have been installed/implemented.
The protection measures shall be maintained in accordance with the
approved details, until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have
been moved from the site.
Reason: To protect the trees on site which are to be retained in the interests
of the visual amenities of the locality. It is considered necessary for this to
be a pre-commencement condition because the adequate protection of trees
prior to works commencing on site goes to the heart of the planning
permission.
6.

Prior to occupation, development surrounding sustainability should be
carried out in accordance with the submitted information:
· Climate Change Questionnaire (Submitted 21.04.2022)
· Preliminary SAP 2021 "As Designed" Calculation for Part L1A (Ref:
3436A20/04/2022)
· Renewable Energy Contribution to Reduce CO2 Emissions Calculations
(dated 20.04.2022)
shall be implemented and thereafter, retained and maintained to the
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the requirements of Policy D2 of the LPSS are met.

7.

Prior to the commencement, a landscaping scheme shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the subsequently
approved scheme shall then be implemented in full prior to occupation.
Reason: To ensure the development mitigates against approved tree loss
and retains the established local character.

8.

The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless and
until space has been laid out within the site in accordance with the approved
plans, for vehicles to be parked and for vehicles to turn so that they may
enter and leave the site in forward gear. Thereafter the parking and turning
areas shall be retained and maintained for their designated purposes.
Reason: In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety
nor cause inconvenience to other highway users and are in recognition of
Section 9 “Promoting Sustainable Transport” in the National Planning Policy
Framework 2021, as well as Policy ID3 of the Guildford Local Plan (2019).

Page 32

Agenda item number: 5(1)

9.

The development hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until
the proposed fast charge socket (current minimum requirements - 7 kw
Mode 3 with Type 2 connector - 230v AC 32 Amp single phase dedicated
supply) have been installed in accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: To promote sustainable modes of transport and mitigate the
impacts of the development in line with Section 9 “Promoting Sustainable
Transport” in the National Planning Policy Framework 2021, as well as
Policy ID3 of the Guildford Local Plan (2019).
The development must be carried out in accordance with the
recommendations outlined within the submitted Ecological Assessment Phase 1 Habitat & Protected Species Survey (November 2020).

10.

Reason: To ensure the protection of biodiversity.
Demolition and construction work on site should be carried out within the
following times:(a) Mon - Fri working only between 08.00 hours and 18.00 hours.
(b) Saturday working only between 08.00 hours and 13.00 hours.
(c) No work to take place on Sundays or Bank Holidays

11.

Reason: To protect residential amenity.
Informatives:
1.
This statement is provided in accordance with Article 35(2) of the Town and Country
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. Guildford
Borough Council seek to take a positive and proactive approach to development
proposals. We work with applicants in a positive and proactive manner by:
·
·
·

Offering a pre application advice service
Where pre-application advice has been sought and that advice has been
followed we will advise applicants/agents of any further issues arising during the
course of the application
Where possible officers will seek minor amendments to overcome issues
identified at an early stage in the application process

However, Guildford Borough Council will generally not engage in unnecessary
negotiation for fundamentally unacceptable proposals or where significant changes
to an application is required.
In this case pre-application advice was sought and provided which addressed
potential issues, the application has been submitted in accordance with that advice
and no further issues have arisen.
2.

If you need any advice regarding Building Regulations please do not hesitate to
contact Guildford Borough Council Building Control on 01483 444545 or
buildingcontrol@guildford.gov.uk

Page 33

Agenda item number: 5(1)

3.

The permission hereby granted shall not be construed as authority to carry out any
works on the highway. The applicant is advised that prior approval must be obtained
from the Highway Authority before any works are carried out on any footway,
footpath, carriageway, or verge to form a vehicle crossover or to install dropped
kerbs. Please see:
www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/road-permits-and-licences/vehicle-crosso
vers-or-dropped-kerbs.

4.

The developer is reminded that it is an offence to allow materials to be carried from
the site and deposited on or damage the highway from uncleaned wheels or badly
loaded vehicles.
The Highway Authority will seek, wherever possible, to recover any expenses
incurred in clearing, cleaning or repairing highway surfaces and prosecutes
persistent offenders.
(Highways Act 1980 Sections 131, 148, 149).

5.

The permission hereby granted shall not be construed as authority to carry out any
works on the highway or any works that may affect a drainage channel/culvert or
water course. The applicant is advised that a permit and, potentially, a Section 278
agreement must be obtained from the Highway Authority before any works are
carried out on any footway, footpath, carriageway, verge or other land forming part
of the highway. All works on the highway will require a permit and an application will
need to submitted to the County Council's Street Works Team up to 3 months in
advance of the intended start date, depending on the scale of the works proposed
and the classification of the road. Please see:
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/road-permits-and-licences/the-traffic
-management-permit-scheme.
The applicant is also advised that Consent may be required under Section 23 of the
Land Drainage Act 1991. Please see:
www.surreycc.gov.uk/people-and-community/emergency-planning-and-community-s
afety/floodingadvice.
The developer is advised that as part of the detailed design of the highway works
required by the above condition(s), the County Highway Authority may require
necessary accommodation works to street lights, road signs, road markings,
highway drainage, surface covers, street trees, highway verges, highway surfaces,
surface edge restraints and any other street furniture/equipment.

6.

It is the responsibility of the developer to ensure that the electricity supply is
sufficient to meet future demands and that any power balancing technology is in
place if required.
Please refer to:
http://www.beama.org.uk/resourceLibrary/beama-guide-to-electric-vehicle-infrastruct
ure.html
for guidance and further information on charging modes and connector types.

Page 34

Agenda item number: 5(1)

Officer's Report
Site description.
The site consists of a portion of the rear garden of the property known as St Germain. St
Germain is a large detached dwelling set in extensive grounds. The site is bordered by extensive
gardens associated with neighbouring detached dwellings (Chantry Cottage to the north and
Braeside to the south). To the east the site adjoining the rear garden on Langdale Cottage.
The site is accessed off of The Warren, which is a private drive. The houses along The Warren
consist of large detached two storey dwellings, of traditional surrey vernacular, set in large
gardens.
The site comprises landscaped gardens, the majority of which is laid to lawn. There are a number
of large trees and mature hedgerows which sit on the borders of the site, screening it from
neighbouring properties. The site itself slopes from west to east.
The site is located within the Green Belt, but within the settlement boundary of East Horsley. It is
within Flood Zone 1 and has no TPO's or other environmental designations.
The site sits outside of the Surrey Hills AONB but the boundary lies 0.3km to the east and 0.7km
to the west of the site.
The site sits within the 5km to 7km buffer zone of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection
Area.
Proposal.
Erection of a single dwelling and detached garage on the land to the rear of St Germain.
Housing mix: 1 x 5-bed dwelling.
Parking provision: 2 car parking spaces are provided.
Relevant planning history.
Reference: Description:

Decision
Summary:

Appeal:

05/P/02233 Part two storey/part single storey
Approve
side/rear extension and single storey
20/12/2005
extension to opposite side to provide
garage and car port following
demolition of existing garage and utility
room and conservatory.

N/A

05/P/00369 First floor side extension and single
Approve
storey extension to opposite side to
23/03/2005
provide attached garage following
demolition of existing attached garage.

N/A

Page 35

Agenda item number: 5(1)

04/P/02543 Two storey side extension
Refuse
incorporating new garage and single
12/01/2005
storey extension to opposite side.
Also, enlarged front lobby following
demolition of existing attached garage.

N/A

04/P/00955 Two storey side extension following
Withdrawn
demolition of existing single storey
14/06/2004
extension. First floor side window on
the northern elevation deleted following
amended plans.

N/A

03/P/01448 Two storey side extension with rear
balcony, rear garden room, front bay
window and detached double garage
following demolition of existing double
car port, part of hall and rear
conservatory.

N/A

Refuse
04/09/2003

Consultations.
Statutory consultees
County Highway Authority:
No comment received.
Thames Water:
No comment received.
Internal consultees
Head of Environmental Health and Licensing:
No comment received.
Tree Officer:
No objection subject to conditions.
East Horsley Parish Council
Objection due to impacts on neighbouring amenity, the character of the locality, excessive scale
& mass and environmental impacts.
Third party comments:
29 letters of objection have been received; key issues raised are as follows:
· Impact on character and openness
· Impact on wildlife, specifically badgers
· Visual impacts
· Light pollution
· Green Belt impacts
· Impacts on the street scene
· Impact on amenity
· Impact on trees
· Sustainability credentials

Page 36

Agenda item number: 5(1)

·
·
·
·
·
·

Scale unacceptable
Traffic impacts
Access to foul drainage
Approval would set a precedent
Covenants pertaining to The Warren
Plot size in comparison to others on the road

Planning policies.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF):
Chapter 2:
Chapter 4:
Chapter 5:
Chapter 8:
Chapter 11:
Chapter 12:
Chapter 13:
Chapter 14:
Chapter 15:

Achieving sustainable development.
Decision making
Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Promoting healthy and safe communities
Making effective use of land
Achieving well-designed places.
Protecting green belt land.
Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

South East Plan 2009:
NRM6 Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area
Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2015 - 2034 (adopted 25 April 2019):
The Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites was adopted by Council on 25 April 2019.
The Plan carries full weight as part of the Council’s Development Plan. The Local Plan 2003
policies that are not superseded are retained and continue to form part of the Development Plan
(see Appendix 8 of the Local Plan: strategy and sites for superseded Local Plan 2003 policies).
The Council is able to demonstrate a five year housing land supply with an appropriate buffer.
This supply is assessed as 7.34 years based on most recent evidence as reflected in the GBC
LAA (2020). In addition to this, the Government’s recently published Housing Delivery Test
indicates that Guildford’s 2020 measurement is 90%. For the purposes of NPPF footnote 7, this
is therefore greater than the threshold set out in paragraph 215 (75%). Therefore, the Plan and
its policies are regarded as up-to-date in terms of paragraph 11 of the NPPF.
Policy H1:
Homes for all
Policy D1:
Place shaping
Policy D2:
Sustainable design, construction and energy
Policy P2:
Green Belt
Policy P5:
Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area
Policy ID1:
Infrastructure and delivery
Policy ID3:
Sustainable transport for new development
Policy ID4:
Green and blue infrastructure
Guildford Borough Local Plan 2003 (as saved by CLG Direction 24 September 2007):
G1(3) Protection of Amenities Enjoyed by Occupants of Buildings
G1(8) Light Pollution
G1(12) Safeguarding and Enhancement of the Landscape and Existing Natural Features
G1(13) Mixed Use

Page 37

Agenda item number: 5(1)

G5:
H4:
NE4:
NE5:

Design Code
Housing in Urban Areas
Species Protection
Dev. Affecting Trees, Hedges & Woodlands

East Horsley Neighbourhood Plan (2017 - 2033):
EH-EN2:
Trees and Hedgerows
EH-EN4:
Biodiversity
EH-H7:
East Horsley Design Code
EH-H8:
Residential Infilling
Supplementary planning documents:
Residential Design Guide (2004)
Vehicle Parking Standards (2006)/SCC Vehicular and Cycle Parking Guidance 2018
Technical housing standards - Nationally described space standard 2015 (DCLG)
Climate Change, Sustainable Design, Construction and Energy SPD 2020
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area Avoidance Strategy 2017
Emerging Local Plan:
The document 'Development Management Policies' will eventually form the second part of the
adopted Local Plan, but currently it is in the early stages of development. The Regulation 18
consultation marks the start of the engagement stage of the Plan and represents the scoping
stage to decide what should be included in the Plan. The Regulation 18 consultation took place
between 3 June 2020 and 22 July 2020.
Currently the next version of the plan is being prepared for consultation: the Regulation 19
Proposed Submission Local Plan: development management policies.
Planning considerations.
The main planning considerations in this case are:
· The principle of development
· Impact on the character of the area
· Living environment
· Impact on neighbouring amenity
· Highway and parking considerations
· Impact on trees and vegetation
· Sustainability
· Impact on protected species and biodiversity
The principle of development
The site is located within the Green Belt but falls within the identified settlement area of East
Horsley. Policy P2 sets out that development proposals within the Green Belt will be considered
in accordance with the NPPF; paragraph 149 of the NPPF 2021 states that the construction of
new buildings will be deemed inappropriate unless for the purpose of e) limited infilling in villages.
Under Policy P2, this exception is further defined as (c)i. "limited infilling within the identified
settlement boundaries, as designated on the Policies Map, of the following villages: East Horsley
and West Horsley (north)", where sites located within these identified areas will be considered a
'village'. The supporting text of policy P2 outlines that limited infilling includes the infilling of small
gaps within built development and that it should be appropriate to the scale of the locality and not
have an adverse impact on the character of the countryside or local environment.

Page 38

Agenda item number: 5(1)

This is reaffirmed by the details of Policy EH-H1 which is specific to the spatial development of
East Horsley.
The site is located within the garden of St Germain and is bordered on all sides by the rear
gardens of residential properties. The shape of the garden is irregular which results in the area
proposed to be developed as part of this application appearing to be "spare land" in an otherwise
developed area. The proposed dwelling is therefore considered to represent limited infilling within
a village and the proposal is acceptable in principle, complying with Policy P2, Policy EH-H1, and
Chapter 13 of the NPPF 2021 in this respect.
Impact on the character of the area
The National Design Guide sets out that well-designed development is influenced by local
character and the characteristics of existing built form, and it is important to consider the
composition of street scenes, the height, scale, massing and relationships between buildings, the
scale and proportions of building and landscaping, both hard and soft.
Policy D1 of the LPSS requires (1) all new development to achieve high quality design that
responds to distinctive local character of the area in which its set. Section (4) requires all new
development to be designed to reflect distinct local character of the area and to respond to and
reinforce locally distinct patterns of development, including landscape setting. Policy G5 of the
Saved Local Plan sets out criteria to ensure new development is in keeping with the surrounding
area.
It is recognised that the proposal represents a form of backland development and such
developments can have significant effects on local character. In this instance there is an existing
property similarly positioned in close proximity (Chanly Cottage) therefore the proposal is not
unique. Furthermore, the site and area is well constrained meaning that there are limited wider
opportunities for other such developments.
At a very local level Policy EN-H8 of the East Horsley Neighbourhood Plan relates to residential
infilling and sets out criteria to be met. It requires dwellings to be of no greater size and massing
than surrounding property. Policy EN-H7(a) outlines that development of houses will be
supported provided proposals accord with a number of criteria, these include; designs being in
keeping with the established character of East Horsley and with the style of the properties
surrounding the development, landscaping is consistent with the surrounding context and
residential developments are no more than 2 storeys high.
The supporting text of the East Horsley NP outlines that a variety of design styles have been
used in housing across the village, from traditional to more modern housing designs in recent
years.
The application site is located within the rear garden of St Germain which is located along 'The
Warren' a private residential road which features large detached properties with significant
spacing to side boundaries. The dwellings along The Warren, whilst slightly varied in design, are
predominantly in the surrey style and add to the well established character of the area.

Page 39

Agenda item number: 5(1)

This application proposes to construct a two storey, five bedroom dwelling, within the rear garden
of St Germain. Access is proposed via an entrance drive running along the side of St Germain.
The dwelling is a relatively modern 'ecohouse' design.
Within their application documents, the applicant references a number of more modern
developments that have been approved within the local area, including Land north of Wayferers
which was recently approved along The Warren.
With regards to design, it is considered that the proposed modern design will be a deviation from
the generally more traditional character of The Warren. However, as outlined within the East
Horsley NP, there are examples of more modern developments within East Horsley which add
interest to the built form of the area. In terms of scale, the proposed dwelling respects the scale
and massing of other properties along The Warren.
The proposed dwelling is set back from the main frontage of The Warren. It is considered that
views of the proposed dwelling from The Warren itself and surrounding properties will be
extremely limited and therefore, although the design of the proposed dwelling does not entirely
reflect the prevailing character of the immediate area by introducing a more modern design, this
will not significantly impact the character of the area. It is considered that the introduction of a
dwelling of this type reflects the varied character of the wider East Horsley area and as the
development site does not have a direct road frontage, on this occasion the proposed design is
appropriate.
The size of the plot is similar to some of the other dwellings along The Warren, although is at the
smaller end of the scale, especially given the scale of the proposed dwelling. However, given the
extensive boundary planting and set back position, views of the proposed dwelling will be limited
from outside of the site itself.
Although the proposed dwelling sits quite tight to its boundaries, the extensive tree planting
bordering the site (especially to the north and east) assists in ensuring the green landscape
setting and separation between built development is maintained. The size of the garden reflects
that of a number of the properties along The Warren.
The proposed access driveway will reopen the previous "out" of the "in out" driveway of St
Germain and therefore it is considered that although there will be a slight intensification of use of
this access, the reintroduction of it will not significantly impact upon the character of this part of
The Warren. Further, the site layout plan shows that it is proposed that a significant number of
trees will be introduced along the access road, this will ensure that the proposed access and
dwelling itself remains in keeping with the leafy setting of The Warren. The exact details of the
proposed landscaping and its maintenance can be secured via condition.
The proposed access requires the reconfiguration of the garage attached to St Germain. It is
considered that the proposed alterations to St Germain are minor and will not impact upon the
character of The Warren.
The proposed design is of a high quality and although does not entirely reflect the character of
the immediate area, it respects the scale, massing and siting of developments along The Warren
whilst adding further interest to the varied vernacular seen along The Warren and within the East
Horsley Area.

Page 40

Agenda item number: 5(1)

Given the above, it is considered that the design of the proposed dwelling is appropriate in this
location and will reflect the varied design of dwellings across East Horsley, in particular the more
modern dwellings that have been approved in recent years. As a result it is considered that the
proposed development accords with policy D1 of the Guildford Borough Local Plan: strategy and
sites 2015 2034 (2019), Policy G5 of the Guildford Borough Local Plan (2003) and Policies
EH-H7 and EH-H8 of the East Horsley Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033 which seek amongst
other things to resist poor quality of design, by ensuring development respects its surroundings,
distinctness and reinforcing patterns of development, and national planning policy and guidance.
Living environment
Policy H1(3) of the LPSS requires all new development to conform to the nationally described
space standards as set out by the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Govt (MHCLG).
The application proposes the creation of one five bed dwelling. The internal floor area
significantly exceeds the minimum requirements for such a dwelling set out in the nationally
described space standards. The space standards set out further requirements in terms of
bedroom sizes and dimensions and it is found that the dwelling also meets with these
requirements.
The proposed garden area would be adequate in terms of outdoor amenity space.
Therefore, the proposal is acceptable in this regard.
Impact on neighbouring amenity
Policy G1(3) of the Saved Local Plan seeks to protect the amenity of occupants of buildings from
unneighbourly development in terms of privacy, access to sunlight and daylight, noise, vibration,
pollution, dust and smell. Policy H4 states that permission will be granted provided that
development does not have an unacceptable effect on amenity.
The proposed development is set within the rear garden of St Germain, therefore a key
consideration is the impact the proposed development will have on this property. In addition, the
site is bordered by Chantry Cottage to the north, Braeside to the south and Langdale Cottage to
the east.
St Germain
The proposed dwelling is located within the extensive rear garden of St Germain. The rear of St
Germain and the front elevation of the proposed dwelling are some 50m away from each other.
Therefore, it is considered that there is unlikely to be any significant impacts with regards to
daylight / sunlight, overlooking, noise and disturbance or privacy.
The proposed access drive runs along the southern elevation which will run alongside the altered
garage of St Germain. Extensive planting has been proposed along the entirety of the driveway
to ensure adequate separation between St Germain and the proposed development. It is
considered that although there will be an introduction of vehicular movements down this side of
the property, given the space between the driveway and St Germain, the garage location and the
proposed planting, it is not expected that the access would result in significant amenity issues.

Page 41

Agenda item number: 5(1)

Chantry Cottage, Braeside and Landale Cottage
The site is well screened by vegetation on its north, east and west boundaries and therefore
views into the site from the neighbouring dwellings is limited. Further, given the location of the
neighbouring dwellings within their generous plots, the separation distances between the
proposed dwelling and the existing dwellings is extensive and means that there are no concerns
with regards to loss of light, overlooking or privacy.
As a result, the proposals are considered to accord with the requirements of Policy G1(3) of the
Saved Local Plan and Policy H4 of the LPSS.
Highway and parking considerations
The proposed site layout shows a large driveway that runs off of The Warren. The access is
formed by reopening the 'out' of the former 'in out' driveway associated with the St Germain
property. The Warren is a low activity road, only providing access for the properties that lay along
it. It is considered that the reopening of this access is appropriate and would not result in any
significant highways impacts. Ample space has been provided to ensure that vehicles can access
the site and turn when necessary.
Two parking spaces have been shown within the layout, which accords with the policy
requirements for parking in this location for a dwelling of this size.
It is noted that a number of public representations have highlighted concerns with regards to
traffic as a result of the proposed development. It is considered that the increase in car
movements as a result of the development would not result in significant impacts in this regard
either during or post construction.
Therefore, the proposal is deemed to be acceptable in this regard.
Sustainability
Policy D2 of the LPSS sets out that new dwellings need to achieve a 20% reduction in carbon
emissions through the use of renewable energy. The application has been supported by the
GBC Climate Change, Energy and Sustainable Development questionnaire and Energy Report,
which outline how the proposed development will meet sustainability requirements.
It outlines that the proposed development will achieve a 20% reduction in carbon emissions. It is
proposed to achieve this through the provision of an Air Source Heat Pump, EV charging,
photovoltaic panels and a MHVR ventilation system. It is also confirmed that the house has been
designed to near Passivhaus standards, with insulation proposed to exceed Building Regulation
requirements, siting and design to maximise solar gains ad high standards of water efficiency
throughout.
It is proposed that these measures could be secured by condition were permission to be granted.
The impact of biodiversity and protected species
LPSS Policy ID4 sets out the Council will seek to maintain, conserve and enhance biodiversity
and will seek opportunities for habitat restoration and creation, while new development should
aim to deliver gains in biodiversity where appropriate.

Page 42

Agenda item number: 5(1)

A Phase 1 Habitat and Protected Species Survey was submitted in support of this application.
The report outlines that there are a number of trees and hedges located within the site which are
likely to be used by birds for feeding and roosting, but the majority of it is laid to lawn. In terms of
protected species, no evidence of bats and no potential for bats were found within St Germain's
car port, garage or house itself. There are no records of badger sets within 30m of the site
boundary and a walk around found no dung pits. No natural ponds are known to occur within
500m of the application site and therefore Great Crested Newts are not expected to occur on the
survey site, the site also has limited potential for other reptiles, as the habitat is suboptimal.
No habitat or species identified in the Surrey Biodiversity Action Plan will be affected by the
proposals and the proposals are not expected to have a significant impact on local wildlife.
A number of measures have been suggested within the report in order to mitigate any potential
additional impacts and increase biodiversity on site, these include control over exterior lighting,
checking trenches for hedgehogs, the sowing of native grassland and the provision of bird boxes.
These measures can be secured via condition.
The proposals, consequently, and subject to necessary conditions will not have any significant
adverse effects on biodiversity and do not conflict with LPSS policy ID4.
Impact on trees and vegetation
The application is supported by an Arboricultural Implication Study and Tree Protection Strategy.
The report outlines that all significant trees on the site are located at the boundaries of the plots
including linear groups of trees at south-eastern and northern boundaries. It outlines that the
proposed layout allows for the retention of all the trees currently on site including all trees of
amenity value. The house and its foundations will be constructed outside of the Root Protection
Area of all trees of amenity value and therefore there will be no impact upon trees as a result of
the development of the house itself.
In relation to the driveway, its construction will encroach upon the RPA of the Scots Pine T25 and
T2, however, it is considered the encroachment is so minor that no protective measures will be
required.
The report recommends that protective fencing is erected around the RPA's all trees of amenity
value and further specific measures to ensure the proposed development does not harm the
trees found on site.
The GBC Tree Officer has provided comments on the proposed development and has confirmed
he raises no arboricultural objections provided a condition relating to the provision of an
Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan is attached to any consent.
Subject to necessary conditions, it is considered that there will be no significant adverse effects in
relation to trees as a result of the proposed development.

Page 43

Agenda item number: 5(1)

Conclusion.
The site is located within the Green Belt but falls within the identified settlement area of East
Horsley, where limited infilling is considered appropriate. The site is sustainably located, within
the existing urban area. The proposals are for the erection of a new 5 bed dwelling in the rear
garden of St Germain, the garden is shaped in such a way that the site proposed for the new
dwelling appears as spare land that lends itself to development such as the proposed. As such it
is considered the proposals meet the requirements of limited infilling.
The Warren is a private residential road which features large detached properties of varying
designs but predominantly of a "surrey style" vernacular. The proposed development is relatively
modern in design, however, within the wider East Horsley area there are examples of more
modern developments which add interest to the built form of the area. In terms of scale and
massing the proposals sit cohesively into The Warren. The proposed development is set back
from the main frontage of The Warren which results in very limited views into the site from the
Warren itself. As such, despite the deviation from the prevailing character of The Warren, it is
considered that by virtue of its siting the proposed development will not have a detrimental effect
on the character of development in The Warren and reflects the prevailing character of the East
Horsley area.
The proposals exceed requirements in relation to residential amenity and it is considered that
owing to the extensive existing vegetation surrounding the development site, there will be no
significant impacts on neighbouring amenity.
The proposals are modest in scale relative to the plot and surroundings, and therefore it is
considered there will be no significant impacts in relation to highways. The access is formed by
the reopening of the "out" of the previous "in out" driveway at St Germain.
The proposals have been designed to achieve a high degree of Sustainability, exceeding GBC
requirements. A carbon emission reduction of 20% has been shown to be achievable, and
through careful design and implementation of standards above those required by Building
Regulations the proposal is striving towards Passivhaus standards.
There are no significant impacts expected on biodiversity, protected species or trees. Necessary
conditions can be added to any permission in order to secure ecological enhancements and the
protection of existing trees.
Overall, the scheme is considered to represent a sustainable form of development, making
effective use of a suitable and accessible site, with the proposals giving rise to no significant
adverse impacts or conflicts with adopted policies.

Page 44

Agenda item number: 5(2)

Page 45

Agenda item number: 5(2)
22/P/00687 – Lancaster Volvo Garage, Guildford Road, Pirbright

NotPage
to scale
46

Agenda item number: 5(2)

22/P/00687
App No:
Full Application
Appn Type:
Case Officer: Kieran Cuthbert
Parish: Pirbright
Agent : Mr Jones
Jones Architecture + Design
Steepleton Lodge Barn
Long Lane
East Haddon
NN6 8DU
Location:
Proposal:

8 Wk Deadline: 05/07/2022
Pirbright
Ward:
Applicant: Mr Slaughter
Squire Furneaux Guildford
Guildford Road
Pirbright
GU24 0DA

Lancaster Volvo Garage, Guildford Road, Pirbright, Woking, GU24
0LW
Erection of workshop / MOT facility and new valet following
demolition of existing workshop / MOT facility and valet structures.
Refurbishment of existing showroom, new facade and associated
external works.

Executive Summary
Reason for referral
This application has been referred to the Planning Committee because more than 20 letters of
objection have been received, contrary to the Officer's recommendation
Key information
The proposal is for alterations to the existing Volvo garage including some changes to scale as
well as the removal of the rear outbuildings and replacement with a single valet building.
The existing main building has a floor area of 1205 sqm the replacement would have a floor area
of 1287 sqm including the mezzanine floor with a total footprint of 1210 sqm
The site is within the Green Belt and borders the Pirbright Conservation Area
The valet building as existing is 86sqm and the proposed would be 154sqm. However including
the other outbuildings the existing total square area of outbuildings is currently 124sqm
Summary of considerations and constraints
The proposed works, would only be slightly larger than existing with a footprint increase of only
1% and as such are not considered disproportionate additions.
The proposed outbuilding would replace multiple outbuildings which create a "messy" rear area to
the existing garage and would be built closer to the main building thus lessening the impact to
dwellings at the rear of the site and reducing their impact on the openness of the Green Belt
The amount of parking in the area would be increased and conditions have been requested by
the Highway Authority to minimise the impact on Guildford Road. The proposal would not create
a significant increase in the amount of traffic in the area.
The proposed redevelopment would give the building a more coherent roof shape and thus would
have no detrimental impact on the conservation area.

Page 47

Agenda item number: 5(2)

No neighbour amenity concerns have been identified.
Therefore, subject to the conditions, the application is deemed to be acceptable and is
recommended for approval.
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve - subject to the following condition(s) and reason(s) :1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
as amended by Section 51(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans: 22004_01, 22004_02, 22004_04, 22004_05,
22004_06, 22004_07, 22004_08 & 22004_09 received on 06/05/2022 and
22004_03 P2 received on 19/07/2022.
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved plans and in the interests of proper planning.

3.

The details within the approved Parking Management Statement Revision P1,
dated 15th July 2022, shall be implemented and thereafter maintained and
developed to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.
Reasons: For the purposes that the development should not prejudice highway
safety nor cause inconvenience to other highway users and are in recognition of
Section 9 “Promoting Sustainable Transport” in the National Planning Policy
Framework 2021.

4.

Space shall be laid out within the site in accordance with the approved plans.
Drawing No.22004_03 Rev P2, for vehicles to be parked, for the loading and
unloading of vehicles, and for vehicles to turn so that they may enter and leave
the site in forward gear. Thereafter the parking, loading and unloading, and
turning areas shall be retained and maintained for their designated purposes.
Reasons: For the purposes that the development should not prejudice highway
safety nor cause inconvenience to other highway users and are in recognition of
Section 9 “Promoting Sustainable Transport” in the National Planning Policy
Framework 2021.

5.

Facilities for the secure, covered parking of bicycles and the provision of
charging points for e-bikes by said facilities shall be provided within the
development site. 20% of all cycles should be able to be charged at any one
time.

Page 48

Agenda item number: 5(2)

To be in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter the said approved facilities shall
be provided, retained and maintained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning
Authority.
Reasons: For the purposes that the development should not prejudice highway
safety nor cause inconvenience to other highway users and are in recognition of
Section 9 “Promoting Sustainable Transport” in the National Planning Policy
Framework 2021.
6.

At least 3 of the proposed parking spaces shall be provided with a fast-charge
Electric Vehicle charging point (current minimum requirements - 7 kw Mode 3
with Type 2 connector - 230v AC 32 Amp single phase dedicated supply) and a
further 3 spaces shall be provided with cabling for the future provision of
charging points. To be in accordance with a scheme to be submitted and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter retained and
maintained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.
Reasons: For the purposes that the development should not prejudice highway
safety nor cause inconvenience to other highway users and are in recognition of
Section 9 “Promoting Sustainable Transport” in the National Planning Policy
Framework 2021.

7.

No development shall commence until a Construction Transport Management
Plan, to include details of:
(a) parking for vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors
(b) loading and unloading of plant and materials
(c) storage of plant and materials
(d) programme of works (including measures for traffic management)
(e) provision of boundary hoarding behind any visibility zones
(f) HGV deliveries and hours of operation
(g) vehicle routing
(h) measures to prevent the deposit of materials on the highway
(i) before and after construction condition surveys of the highway and a
commitment to fund
the repair of any damage caused
(j) on-site turning for construction vehicles
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Only the approved details shall be implemented during the construction of the
development.
Reasons: For the purposes that the development should not prejudice highway
safety nor cause inconvenience to other highway users and are in recognition of
Section 9 “Promoting Sustainable Transport” in the National Planning Policy
Framework 2021.

8.

The development shall be built in accordance with the measures outlined in the
Flood Risk Assessment dated 12th April 2022 by Eastwood and Partners.
Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding and safeguard the
development from flooding.

Page 49

Agenda item number: 5(2)

9.

Within 3 Months of commencement details should be submitted demonstrating
measures of biodiversity net gain - this could for example include the planting of
trees between parking bays. The details provided must be implemented within 2
months of discharge and retained thereafter. Any trees or plants which, within a
period of five years after planting, are removed, die or become seriously
damaged or diseased in the opinion of the local planning authority, shall be
replaced in the next available planting season with others of similar size, species
and number, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Another example could be the implement ion of bird or bat boxes.
Reason: To ensure the development provides a net gain of biodiversity in
accordance with the NPPF.

10.

Prior to the commencement of the proposed works a detailed Phase 2
contaminated land site investigation must be carried out by a suitably qualified
and accredited consultant/contractor in accordance with a Quality Assured
sampling and analysis methodology. The investigation shall include relevant
sub-surface, soil gas and groundwater sampling together with the results of
analysis and a risk assessment of the impact to receptors. Any remediation
required shall be fully detailed to restore the site to a standard suitable for use,
including works to address any unsuspected contamination.
Reason: To ensure any contamination of the site is remediated and to protect
existing/proposed occupants of the applicant site and/or adjacent land.

Informative's:
1.
If you need any advice regarding Building Regulations please do not hesitate to
contact Guildford Borough Council Building Control on 01483 444545 or
buildingcontrol@guildford.gov.uk
2.

This statement is provided in accordance with Article 35(2) of the Town and Country
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. Guildford
Borough Council seek to take a positive and proactive approach to development
proposals. We work with applicants in a positive and proactive manner by:
·
·
·

Offering a pre application advice service
Where pre-application advice has been sought and that advice has been
followed we will advise applicants/agents of any further issues arising during the
course of the application
Where possible officers will seek minor amendments to overcome issues
identified at an early stage in the application process

However, Guildford Borough Council will generally not engage in unnecessary
negotiation for fundamentally unacceptable proposals or where significant changes
to an application is required.
Pre-application advice was not sought prior to submission and the application was
acceptable as submitted.

Page 50

Agenda item number: 5(2)

Officer's Report
Site description.
The site contains a vehicle showroom the workshop on Guildford Road where it meets Mill Lane.
The site just sits outside of the Pirbright Conservation Area. The site is in a predominately
residential area and includes a number of smaller rear outbuildings as well as the main
showroom. The site is within the Green Belt.
Proposal.
Erection of workshop / MOT facility and new valet following demolition of existing workshop /
MOT facility and valet structures. Refurbishment of existing showroom, new facade and
associated external works.
Relevant planning history.
Reference: Description:

Appeal:

18/P/00471

Decision
Summary:
Raising of roof and creation of new
Approve
parapet detail to front elevation across 20/06/2018
two gable end buildings. Alteration of
glazing facades beneath and erection
of entrance canopy. Erection of an
external parts store to the rear of the
building. Creating new vehicular
access from rear and blocking up of
originals from the front. Introduction of
external facade finishes. Internal
refurbishment to new specification and
new external works.
(Description altered and amended
plans received 17/05/2018).

N/A

11/P/00602

Advertisement consent for a free
standing double-sided sign.

Refuse
01/06/2011

N/A

98/P/00955

Display of internally illuminated fascia
sign. (As amended by plans received
21/09/98).

Approve
17/11/1998

N/A

96/P/01498

Alteration to front elevation, new car
Approved with
washing area and associated parking. Conditions
14/01/1997

GU/R
Alterations to garage forecourt,
Approve
1348/10/72/ including the provision of a new pump 1972
PIR
island with pumps and a kiosk, the
erection of a canopy and the provision
of new vehicular access

Page 51

N/A

N/A

Agenda item number: 5(2)

GU/R 1467

The extension of the forecourt.

Approved
07/12/1950

N/A

GU/R 1273

Extension to forecourt and additional
access

Approved
28/09/1950

N/A

It is noted that the proposed works include a large parapet frontage currently not part of the
existing building. A similar slightly thicker parapet was however approved in 2018 under
application 18/P/00471. This approval has since expired. However it is noted that there were
neither heritageconcerns nor Green Belt concerns in relation to this proposal. The alterations to
the southern side of the building would be modest overall however do include this parapet which
does greatly alter the appearance of the frontage.
Consultations.
Statutory consultees
County Highway Authority: Following various amendments the County Highway Authority have
responded with no objections however subject to conditions which will include a travel plan
specifying further details regarding personnel parking and the off loading of materials.
Further condtions have been requested regarding the implementation and maintenance of the
parking layout and electric charge points for both cars and e-bikes.
Environment Agency: No objections as the phase 1 contamination survey is acceptable. However
pre development some conditions have been requested for further phase 2 investigations to be
conducted and checked by the local authority.
Thames Water: No objection to the proposal however it has been requested that the sequential
approach to the disposal of surface water be followed.
Parish Council
Pirbright Parish Council have responded with the following concerns
· The proposed represent overdevelopment of the site
· Safety concerns regarding traffic on site
· Concerns regarding parking in the village
· With layout proposed cars would be forced to reverse out therefore safety concerns
Third party comments:
41 letters of representation have been received raising the following objections and concerns:
· Overdevelopment of site
· Concerns regarding highways as increased use would be detrimental to road safety
· Car parking has been an existing issue in the village and the proposed would exacerbate this.
· With layout proposed cars would be forced to reverse out therefore safety concerns.
· Proposed will block natural gulley thus causing potential flooding to surrounding area
· Limited visibility at the site
· Concerns regarding noise from workshop on surrounding dwellings
· Absence of pavement is a safety concern

Page 52

Agenda item number: 5(2)

·

·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

Objections to the placement of a garage on site in principle (Officer Note: Many objections
state that the garage should be sited in an industrial park and not in the village area. It is
noted that the proposal is not for a new development and instead for changes to the existing
development and the application has been assessed as the redevelopment of previously
developed land.)
Impact on village green as employees park here
Overshadowing concerns from high roof
Obstruction to roadways from delivery vehicles.
Intensification of site would damage Green Belt
Concerns as site sits within the Pirbright Conservation Area (Officer Note: The site falls
outside of the Pirbright Conservation Area however is adjacent and as such its impact on the
setting of the Conservation Area will be assessed.)
The bulk of the frontage would appear out of character for the local area
Concerns in regard to light pollution
Cubic increase would be disproportionate within the Green Belt

(Officer Note: Many of the concerns are related to parking in the area with objectors stating that
lorries and cars block roads and park in the surrounding area causing disruption.
It should be noted that the garage is existing and as such these issue are a civil matter not a
planning one unless the proposal would cause greater disruption.)
Planning policies.
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF):
Chapter 2: Achieving sustainable development
Chapter 5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Chapter 12. Achieving well-designed places
Chapter 14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Guildford Borough Local Plan 2003 (as saved by CLG Direction 24 September 2007):
G1
General Standards of Development
G5
Design Code
Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2019 (LPSS)
P4
Flooding, flood risk and groundwater protection zones
D1
Place shaping
D2
Climate Change, Sustainable design, construction and
energy
ID3
Sustainable transport for new developments
ID4
Green and Blue Infrastructure
Supplementary planning documents:
Vehicle Parking Standards (2006)
Climate Change, Sustainable Design, Construction and Energy SPD (2020)
Planning considerations.
The main planning considerations in this case are:
·
·
·

the impact on the Green Belt
the impact on the Conservation Area
the impact on neighbouring amenity

Page 53

Agenda item number: 5(2)

·
·
·
·

the impact on parking and highways
the impact on sustainability
the impact on biodiversity
flood risk

The Impact on the Green Belt
The proposed works consist of both a refurbishment of the main building and the removal of the
existing valet buildings and other outbuildings and their replacement with a new single storey out
building.
As such the works consist of both an extension of one building and the replacement of another.
Main Garage Structure
Policy P2 of the adopted Local Plan confirms that Green Belt policy will be applied in line with the
NPPF.
The NPPF states that inappropriate development in the Green Belt is by definition harmful.
Paragraph 149 lists various exceptions which are considereed on inappropriate development
including the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed land as long as it would
not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing development; .
As the proposed works would be alterations of the existing site including extensions across
existing hardstanding areas contained within the greater garage site it is considered to be the
redevelopment of previously developed land.
The proposed development would have a total floor area of 1287 sqm however this includes a
mezzanine floor and as such the total footprint would be 1210sqm as opposed to the existing
1205sqm footprint of the existing site. As such the proposed development would only very
marginally exceed the footprint of existing and therefore in this regard the impact on openness is
extremely limited.
In regard to the alteration to the overall bulk of the building the front of the building would have a
1 metre thick parapet which would include the proposed singage. Whilst this would alter the front
to appear slightly larger than the existing roof the roof slope behind the majority of this would be
unaltered with the southern end of the building left mostly unaltered. As such the overall bulk of
the building would be only slightly increased at this side of the building by the parapet proposed.
It is noted that a similar thicker parapet was approved with no Green Belt concerns in 2018.
The north end of the building would have more changes. The existing pitched roof would be
altered to the be a flat roof. The flat roof, whilst higher than the eaves of the existing building by 2
metres would be lower than the ride height of the existing building by 2 metres. Overall, these
changes on the northern side would even themselves out with modest increases to scale and
some modest decreases in scale resulting in no increase in bulk.
As such on balance the footprint would be unaltered and the changes to the bulk of the proposed
building would be modest. Therefore the proposal is considered to not have a greater impact on
the Green Belt than the existing development and as such meets the exception set out above.

Page 54

Agenda item number: 5(2)

Proposed Outbuilding
The replacement of an existing building for another building in the same use is also identified in
paragraph 149 of the NPPF as an exception of inappropriate development in the Green Belt,
provided that the building is not materially larger than that it replaces. The test of whether a
replacement building is materially larger is not an openness test nor does it relate to the visual
impact of the development. Neither is it a relative assessment to the size of other buildings in the
surrounding area. Instead it requires a quantitative assessment, factors can include the
floorspace uplift and three dimensional factors such as footprint, increases in height, width, depth
and building shape. Where more than one building exists on site i.e. domestic outbuildings, the
starting point should be to NOT include outbuildings in the materially larger assessment.
Whether other buildings on the site would be removed as part of the application can be a material
consideration but this should come after the materially larger assessment, essentially whether
there is an overall reduction in built form or improvement to the character of the site that could
contribute to very special circumstances in the balancing exercise.
Policy P2 of the adopted Local Plan confirms that Green Belt policy will be applied in line with the
NPPF and for replacement buildings further confirms that replacement buildings should overlap
with the existing structure, unless it can be clearly demonstrated that the replacement building
would not harm the openness of the Green Belt.
The proposed uplift from existing is as follows:
Existing - 86 sqm
Proposed - 154 sqm (79% Uplift)
Existing with other outbuildings which are to be removed - 124 sqm
An uplift of 79% is a high level of uplift and would clearly indicate that the proposed outbuilding is
larger than existing, especially considering that both are single storey structures. The footprint is
therefore greatly increased and the proposed would be built horizontal and parallel with the main
building as opposed to vertial and away from the main building as the existing valet building is. As
such the proposed would not greatly overlap with the footprint of the existing.
The existing buildings to be removed are spread around the rear of the site.
In regards to the bulk increase the proposed would be a meter higher than existing at ridge
height and 1.6 metres higher at eaves height. The existing building would have a dual pitched
roof whereas the proposed would have slightly pitched almost flat roof. As such the proposed
outbuilding would clearly be bulkier than existing.
However in this instance it is noted that the archive building would also be removed which has a
total floor area of 30sqm and another outbuilding structure shown on the site plan with an area of
8sqm. It is also noted that the proposed outbuilding building would be built across a part of the
building which is set to be demolished. As such the proposed would be built across an area
already developed and would replace 3 existing buildings.
As such the proposed outbuilding whilst still larger than existing and would appear be far neater
as a whole than the many existing building which litter the rear area of the site. Furthermore a
building placed parrell alongside the rear of the main building would be less visually promiment
and have less of an impact on the site foorprint as a whole than the existing oddly angled out
building which justs out away from the main building.

Page 55

Agenda item number: 5(2)

As such the proposed single building would be less visually obstructive than the existing multiple
buildings at the rear of the building.
The impact on the Conservation Area and character of the surrounding area.
Statutory provisions:
Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that ‘In
the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, of any functions
under or by virtue of any of the provisions mentioned in subsection (2), special attention shall be
paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.
NPPF provisions:
It is one of the core principles of the NPPF that heritage assets should be conserved in a manner
appropriate to their significance. Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework
addresses proposals affecting heritage assets. Para 199 sets out that 'great weight should be
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight
should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total
loss or less than substantial harm to its significance'. The NPPF sets out that the local planning
authority should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset…They
should take this assessment into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a
heritage asset, to avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any
aspect of the proposal.
Paras 199-205 set out the framework for decision making in planning applications relating to
heritage assets and this application takes account of the relevant considerations in these
paragraphs.
The application site is located immediately adjacent to the Pirbright Conservation Area and as
such the impact of the proposed development on the setting of the conservation area needs to be
assessed. The existing site is an anomaly in the street scene, with the area being predominantly
residential in nature.
The parapet feature would be the most visually prominent element of the proposed works. In
2018 the impact on the conservation area was assessed concerning the proposal for a parapet of
an identical width and height. The following was stated:
"The proposed development would result in the site having a greater impact on the street scene,
predominantly due to the parapet feature, however, it is not considered that it will result in a
materially harmful effect on the setting of the conservation area as it would result in a less
visually fussy appearance."
Little has changed in the surrounding area following this assessment and neither has national
policy regarding the assessment of development in the Conservation Area. As such there is no
reason to disagree with this previous assessment as the parapet is equal in scale and siting.
The northern elevational changes would also be visible from the street scene. However there
would be a total reduction in width on this side by 9 metres as well as a reduction in height. It is
also noted that the proposal would include a consistently flat roof. Similar to the proposed
parapet however set lower down. As such the northern elevation like the parapet proposed.

Page 56

Agenda item number: 5(2)

Would replace the somewhat incoherent existing pitched roof design with a consistent one.
As such the proposed changes to the main building are considered acceptable.
The proposed outbuilding would be behind the main building and as such would have limited
impact on the character of the area and Conservation Area.
However the proposal would be fairly modest and clearly subservient to the main building and
would be more coherent in terms of its overall appearance than the multiple existing outbuildings
spread across the rear of the site. The siting of the outbuilding would run alongside the main
building. Further creating a more consistent pattern of design at the site.
No material harm to the designated heritage asset has been identified and having due regard to
Section(s) 72 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990 permission
should be granted.
The Impact on Neighbour Amenity
The resultant buildings would not be much higher than existing as the northern elevation would in
many areas be set down. The largest increase in height would come from the parapet on the
southern side. This could potentially impact the closest neighbours on this side which would be
numbers 6 and 8 Collens Field. It is noted that both dwellings are located south of the site and as
such would not be greatly impacted in regards to loss of light. It's possible that the far rear end of
the garden of each property may be impacted by a small amount of loss of light from this parapet
however this loss of light would not be detirmental to the amenity of both properties.
10 Collens field would be adjacent to the higher Valet building proposed. It is noted that as
existing the site is already built up against the boundary wall however the proposed would be
higher although set further back and as such would only impact the side of the neighbouring
dwelling. However the only window on this side of the property is as existing obscure glazed and
as such would not serve as the primary light source to a principal room.
The impact on Parking and Highways
The proposed works would result in a net increase of parking provision at the site. The applicant
has provided a parking management statement with site plans showing parking on site as well as
the access and exit points to the site which will not be altered.
Furthermore e-bike points would be included to encourage cycle access to the site as well as
other options such as share car rotas for staff which would be secured as a condition.
There are some concerns that the larger development would increase the use of the site thus
impacting the surrounding area however the increased parking and alternative travel opitons
would alleviate the potential impact on any increased usage of the site.
Finally, the proposed parking plan has been reviewed by the Highways Authority who has raised
no concerns regarding parking or access subject to a number of conditions.
Given the siting of the garage by a main road a construction transport management plan has also
been requested and this will be included should the application be approved.

Page 57

Agenda item number: 5(2)

The Impact on Sustainability
A detailed climate change and sustainability questionnaire has been provided with the
application.
The applicant has stated that the works will minimise waste by following the waste hierarchy as
much as possible. Surplus materials will be reused on site and only materials required will be
ordered to reduce wastage. The waste plan provided in the questionnaire is extremely detailed
and as such it is considered that waste will be dealt with efficiently and sustainabley on the site.
Any change regarding water usage and sustainable design in regards to orientation is not as
relevant in this instance given that the works are alterations to the existing site. However the
applicant has again shown in detail the various measures which they will implemented to reduce
carbon emissions and improve water usage with the use of heat recovery ventilation and various
water reduction methods from the use of more modern water saving plumbing as part of the
refurbishment.
Given the scale of the site and measures outlined in the questionnaire the proposal is considered
to be in line with D2 of the Guildford Strategy and Sites Local Plan 2019
The impact on Biodiversity
In accordance with policy ID4 of the Guildford Strategy and Sites Local Plan the development
must provide information of a biodiversity net gain. No ecological information has been provided
by the applicant to show biodiversity net gain and as such a condition is recommended to ensure
that this is acheived.
Flood Risk
The site is in Flood Risk Zone 2 and as such is considered an area of medium risk which has
historically flooded. The applicant has provided a flood risk assessment from Eastwood and
Partners Consulting Engineers dated 12th of April 2022.
The site would not increase the existing hardstanding on site nor alter the existing drainage.
The proposed additions would be over eixisting impermeable areas and as such their inclusion
would not increase flood risk.
The outbuilding would be constructed from flood resilient materials and by its nature would not
contribute to increased flooding.
The measures within the Flood Risk Assessment are considered sufficient in minimising flood risk
and as such these will be conditioned should the application be approved.

Page 58

Agenda item number: 5(3)

Page 59

Agenda item number: 5(3)
22/P/00825 – Springwell, Pincott Lane, West Horsley, Leatherhead

NotPage
to scale
60

Agenda item number: 5(3)

App No:
22/P/00825
Appn Type:
Full Application
Case Officer: Lisa Botha
Parish: West Horsley
Agent : Mr. Ray Fletcher
limeblue innovation ltd
Post Office Buildings
Freestone Yard Park Street
Colnbrook
Slough
SL3 0HT
Location:
Proposal:

8 Wk Deadline: 12/08/2022
Ward:
Clandon & Horsley
Applicant: Mrs. Sarita Schmid
Springwell
Pincott Lane
West Horsley
Leatherhead
KT24 6JH

Springwell, Pincott Lane, West Horsley, Leatherhead, KT24 6JH
Single storey detached garage with store (retrospective application
to regularise planning permission 20/P/00449, approved on
22/04/2020).

Executive Summary
Reason for referral
This application has been referred to the Planning Committee because more than 10 letters of
objection have been received, contrary to the Officer's recommendation.
Key information
The proposed building is located forward of the dwelling and would be set back from the side
boundary by 0.3m, would have a maximum width of 4.24m and a maximum depth of 5.93m. The
rear elevation of the building would run parallel with the side boundary of the site and as such
would be constructed at an angle. A gap of 0.65m would be retained between the dwelling and
the proposed garage.
The proposed garage would have a reduced width of 0.16m and a reduced depth of 0.97m in
comparison to the garage which was approved under extant permission 22/P/00825.
Summary of considerations and constraints
The proposed development would be acceptable in principle, would have no material harm to the
designated heritage assets, would have no materially harmful impact on neighbouring amenity
and no adverse impact on highway / parking considerations. The proposal is therefore
considered acceptable and is recommended for approval subject to conditions.
RECOMMENDATION:
Approve - subject to the following condition(s) and reason(s) :1.

The existing garage building located in the north-east corner of the site shall be
demolished in its entirety and removed from the site within 7 months from the
date of this decision, unless the building is first modified in accordance with the
approved plans within 6 months of the date of this decision.

Page 61

Agenda item number: 5(3)

Reason: In order to regularise the building which has been constructed on site.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans: an un-numbered site plan, RPF1258SHT1A SHEET 1
OF 3, RPF1258SHT2A SHEET 2 OF 3, RPF1258SHT3A SHEET 3 OF 3
received on 10/06/22.
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved plans and in the interests of proper planning.

Informatives:
1.
If you need any advice regarding Building Regulations please do not hesitate to
contact Guildford Borough Council Building Control on 01483 444545 or
buildingcontrol@guildford.gov.uk
2.

This statement is provided in accordance with Article 35(2) of the Town and Country
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. Guildford
Borough Council seek to take a positive and proactive approach to development
proposals. We work with applicants in a positive and proactive manner by:
•
•
•

Offering a pre application advice service
Where pre-application advice has been sought and that advice has been
followed, we will advise applicants/agents of any further issues arising during the
course of the application
Where possible officers will seek minor amendments to overcome issues
identified at an early stage in the application process

However, Guildford Borough Council will generally not engage in unnecessary
negotiation for fundamentally unacceptable proposals or where significant changes
to an application is required.
Pre-application advice was not sought prior to submission but the application was
acceptable as submitted.

Officer's Report
Site description.
The site is located within the West Horsley Conservation Area, within an Area of High
Archaeological Potential. The area is characterised by two-storey residential development of
individual design. Two Grade II listed buildings, Pincott Farm House and the adjacent barn is
located within 30m of the application site.

Page 62

Agenda item number: 5(3)

Proposal.
Single storey detached garage with store (retrospective application to regularise planning
permission 20/P/00449, approved on 22/04/2020).
The applicant states that this application has been submitted following a now resolved boundary
dispute with the neighbouring property, and in order to regularise a construction discrepancy
following enforcement action.
The proposal would alter the existing building which has been constructed on site and would be
set back from the side boundary by 0.3m, would have a maximum width of 4.24m and a
maximum depth of 5.93m. The rear elevation of the building would run parallel with the side
boundary of the site and as such would be constructed at an angle. A gap of 0.65m would be
retained between the dwelling and the proposed garage.
The approved garage had a maximum depth of 6.9m with a maximum width of 4.4m and was set
0.3m from the side boundary. The proposed garage would have a reduced width of 0.16m and a
reduced depth of 0.97m and would retain a gap to the boundary of 0.3m
Relevant planning history.
Reference: Description:

Decision
Summary:

20/P/00449 Proposed first floor side extension,
conversion of garage into habitable
accommodation together with a new
detached garage with associated
internal alterations.

Appeal:

Approve
22/04/2020

N/A

97/P/00656 Erection of single storey side extension Approve
to form garage. Conversion of
31/07/1997
existing garage to study and single
storey rear extension to provide
family room. (As amended by plans
received 30/06/97)

N/A

Consultations.
West Horsley Parish Council: No objection.
County Archaeologist:

No objection.

Third party comments:
12 letters of representation have been received raising the following objections and concerns:
•
•
•

too large, overbearing and out of character
too close to neighbouring property
loss of outlook

Page 63

Agenda item number: 5(3)

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

there are no precedents in the area
fails to comply with the aims of the Conservation Area, WH1, WH2, G1(3)
no new construction can be within 3m of the adjoining property (Officers note: requirements of
the Party Wall Act are outside, but additional to planning law)
the hedge will need to be removed
the hedges that were removed were valuable habitat and important to the character of the
lane
the proximity of the building ensures builders will have to trespass onto the neighbouring
property (Officer note: this is not a material planning consideration)
the position of the boundary is incorrect (Officer note: applicants are required to identify and
notify land owners within the red line of the application, the red line itself does not indicate
land ownership)
fails to comply with the requirements in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (Officer note:
the site is not located in the AONB)
loss of light to the driveway and lounge of Appledown
concern that the materials used to construct the building differ from those originally approved
(Officer note: this application seeks approval for alternative materials and will be assessed on
its own merits)
the fact previous development was granted permission should not be a material consideration
weighing in favour of the application (Officer note: the previous approval of an application on
site is a material consideration

Planning policies.
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF):
Chapter 12. Achieving Well Designed Places
Chapter 16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
National Design Guide 2021
Guildford Borough Local Plan Strategy and Sites 2015 - 2034 (adopted 25 April 2019)
The Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites was adopted by Council on 25 April 2019.
The Plan carries full weight as part of the Council’s Development Plan. The Local Plan 2003
policies that are not superseded are retained and continue to form part of the Development Plan
(see Appendix 8 of the Local Plan: strategy and sites for superseded Local Plan 2003 policies).
D1
D3

Place Shaping
Historic Environment

Guildford Borough Local Plan 2003 (as saved by CLG Direction 24 September 2007):
G1(3)
G5(2)
G5(3)
G5(4)
G5(5)
G5(7)

Protection of amenities enjoyed by occupants of buildings
Scale, proportion and form
Space around buildings
Street level design
Layout
Materials and architectural detailing

Page 64

Agenda item number: 5(3)

West Horsley Neighbourhood Plans:(December 2018)
WH1 West Horsley Conservation Area
WH2 Design Management in the Village Settlement
Supplementary planning documents:
Residential Extensions and Alterations SPG 2018
Planning considerations.
The main planning considerations in this case are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

The principle of development
Impact on character of the conservation area
Impact on archaeology
Impact on neighbouring amenity
Highway / parking considerations
Retrospective application

The principle of development
Policy D1 of the Local Plan: Strategy and sites 2015-2034 states that all new developments will
be required to achieve high quality design that responds to distinctive local character (including
landscape character) of the area in which it is set. Policy D3 of the Local Plan: Strategy and
sites 2015-2034 goes on to state that the historic environment will be conserved an enhanced in a
manner appropriate to its significance. Where development of the highest design quality that will
sustain and where appropriate, enhance the special interest, character and significance of the
boroughs heritage assets and their setting and make a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness are proposed they will be supported.
Policy WH2 of the West Horsley Neighbourhood Plan states that garages should be visually
subservient to the main dwelling or other principal building, buildings should be of a good design
and use high quality materials with scales, heights and form of building being sympathetic to the
existing built environment.
In addition, Policy WH1 of the West Horsley Neighbourhood Plan further seeks to ensure
proposals demonstrate an empathy with the diverse style of the existing environment as detailed
in the character appraisal report. Policy WH1 goes on to stipulate that locally used and
prominent materials should be sought including timber weatherboarding, that proposals retain or
re-provide as appropriate low boundary wall, hedges and front gardens to match the existing
arrangement on the same alignment. Subject to compliance with the above, the principle of the
proposal is acceptable.
Furthermore it is noteworthy that the principle of the erection of a garage forward of the dwelling
was accepted under 20/P/00449 with a maximum depth of 6.9m with a maximum width of 4.4m
and was set 0.3m from the side boundary.
The proposed building would be set back from the side boundary by 0.3m, and would have a
reduced width of 0.16m and a reduced depth of 0.97m in comparison with the garage approved
on the extant permission.

Page 65

Agenda item number: 5(3)

Impact on the character of the conservation area
Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that ‘In
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building
or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the Secretary of State shall
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.’
Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that ‘In
the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, of any functions
under or by virtue of any of the provisions mentioned in subsection (2), special attention shall be
paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.
NPPF provisions:
It is one of the core principles of the NPPF that heritage assets should be conserved in a manner
appropriate to their significance. Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework
addresses proposals affecting heritage assets. Para 193 sets out that 'great weight should be
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should
be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or
less than substantial harm to its significance'. the NPPF sets out that the local planning authority
should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset…They should take
this assessment into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to
avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the
proposal.
Paras 195-199 set out the framework for decision making in planning applications relating to
heritage assets and this application takes account of the relevant considerations in these
paragraphs.
The application site comprises a detached, two-storey residential dwelling within the West
Horsley conservation area. Within the Character Appraisal document 2017 for West Horsley it
states that Pincott Lane runs a short distance from The Street to Ripley Lane opposite the
magnificent wrought iron gates and twin lodges of an entrance to the Hatchlands estate. The
lane is tarmacadam surfaced generally with grass verges. The grade II listed property of Pincott
Farm and its barn is located mid-way along the north side of Pincott Farm. It goes on to state
that the east side of the conservation area contains general property developments along The
Street and the side roads of Pincott Lane and Cranmore Lane.
The proposed garage would be located forward of the front of the dwelling, and although the
listed buildings are visible from the application site, the garage is not seen in context with these
listed buildings. Whilst the position of garages as a whole are usually required to be sited to the
side / rear of the dwelling to prevent any adverse harmful impact on the street scene, the location
of a garage forward of the existing dwelling was considered acceptable under application
20/P/0449 as its barn style design and the use of materials proposed was found to be
sympathetic to the character of the conservation area. It was therefore concluded that no
material harm would occur to the designated heritage asset.
The proposed garage is sited in a similar location and would be of a similar design to the
approved garage, but would have a reduced width and depth and as such would have a
decreased visual impact on the street scene and on the wider conservation area. The proposed
garage although of a different material than originally proposed under 20/P/0449 which sought
permission for the use of oak, the building as constructed using douglas fir would also be
considered appropriate to its setting and its use is therefore acceptable.
Page 66

Agenda item number: 5(3)

As such, it is considered that no material harm to the designated heritage asset has been
identified and having due regard to Section(s) 72 of the Planning (Listed Building and
Conservation Area) Act 1990 permission should be granted.
Impact on archaeology
Policy D3 of the Local Plan: Strategy and sites 2015-2034 states that new development must
conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance. The NPPF defines
significance as “the value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of its
heritage interest. That interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic.” The
contribution of the setting of heritage assets to the appreciation of these qualities will be carefully
considered alongside more direct impacts of development proposals. In this instance the site is
located in an Area of High Archaeological Potential due to its relation to the historical
development of West Horsley. The County Archaeologist has been consulted, however, no
concerns have been raised due to the relatively small scale of the proposed development and the
unlikely impact upon any significant archaeological remains; as such no concerns are raised in
this regard.
Impact on neighbouring amenity
In terms of neighbouring amenity, the nearest neighbouring dwelling is Appledown to the east.
This neighbouring dwelling is positioned approximately 2m from the boundary with the host
dwelling. The proposed garage would not be of an excessive scale providing garaging for just
one car with an integral storage area and would be sited 0.3m from this shared boundary, would
have no openings on the eastern elevation of the building and would have a roof which slopes up
away from the boundary. The combination of these factors would ensure that the building would
not have any materially harmful impact on the occupants of Appledown in terms of loss of privacy,
any material overbearing impact or loss of light due to its location to the north of Appledown. It
is also noteworthy that no objection was raised in this regard by the officer under application
20/P/0449.
Highway / parking considerations
No changes are proposed to the existing access to the site which benefits from an ingress and
egress onto Pincott Lane. The proposed garage would be located within the existing driveway
and would provide sheltered accommodation for one vehicle. Sufficient parking provision for at
least two further cars could be provided on site and as such sufficient parking provision would be
provided on site. The proposal is therefore considered acceptable in this regard.
Retrospective application
A ministerial planning policy statement on 31 August 2015 notes that the government is
concerned about the harm that is caused where the development of land has been undertaken in
advance of obtaining planning permission. In such cases, there is no opportunity to appropriately
limit or mitigate the harm that has already taken place. Such cases can involve local planning
authorities having to take expensive and time consuming enforcement action. The ministerial
statement therefore includes a planning policy to make intentional unauthorized development a
material consideration that would be weighed in the determination of planning applications and
appeals. This policy applies to all new planning applications and appeals received from 31 August
2015.

Page 67

Agenda item number: 5(3)

In considering this current application, which seeks to regularize unauthorized development, the
local planning authority has given some weight to the fact that the application is
retrospective. However, the identified harm has resulted largely it would appear due to a
boundary dispute which now appears to have been resolved; in the absence of any detailed
guidance from central government on the level of weight that should be applied in such
circumstances, the fact that this application is retrospective is only considered to weigh against
granting planning permission to a limited degree.
Conclusion.
The proposed development would be acceptable in principle, would have no material harm to the
designated heritage assets, would have no materially harmful impact on neighbouring amenity
and no adverse impact on highway / parking considerations. The proposal is therefore
considered acceptable and is recommended for approval subject to conditions.

Page 68

Agenda item number: 6

Planning Committee

10 August 2022

Planning Appeal Decisions
The following appeal decisions are submitted for the Committee's information and
consideration. These decisions are helpful in understanding the manner in which the Planning
Inspectorate views the implementation of local policies with regard to the Guildford Borough
Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015 - 2034 and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
March 2012 and other advice. They should be borne in mind in the determination of
applications within the Borough. If Councillors wish to have a copy of a decision letter, they
should contact
Sophie Butcher (sophie.butcher@guildford.gov.uk)
1. Mr Ian Dixon
White Timbers, Forest Road, East Horsley, KT24 5ER
21/P/01695 – The development proposed is to retain the existing carport, cantilevered
canopy and gabled roof construction and the conversion of the existing patio area to create
a secure store/garaging facility.
Delegated Decision – To Refuse
Decision - ALLOWED
Summary of Inspector’s Conclusions:
 The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the
existing dwelling and surrounding area.
 Forest Road is a main road running through East Horsley. Most of the houses are
detached and set back from the road on large plots. Boundary treatments consist
mainly of hedges, shrubs and trees, and there are regular mature trees lining the
street. This creates a verdant and open character.
 The houses on Forest Road and the surrounding area vary in scale, form, and style.
However, it is common for garages to be positioned in front of the host dwellings.
There are several houses in the surrounding area, including along Forest Road, with
garages of a similar scale and position to the appeal property’s carport.
 Although positioned in front of the appeal property, the carport is set relatively far
back from the road. The set back and front boundary planting mean views of the
house and carport from the street are fairly limited and their appearance softened.
Notwithstanding this, and despite some of the walls of the existing carport being
enclosed, the integral garage door, which forms part of the front elevation of the
house, is visible from the road because the western elevation of the carport is open.
 Given the moderate scale of the carport and its set back, it is not prominent in the
street scene, and appears as a subservient addition to the existing dwelling. Its gable
roof design reflects the roof of the existing dwelling and is in character with houses
and garages in the surrounding area.

Page 69

Agenda item number: 6





















The cantilevered canopy consists of a simple thin frame and transparent covering,
which maintains a sense of separation between the house and the carport.
Furthermore, it is not clearly visible from the street, and the views of the integral
garage door through the western elevation of the carport give the appearance that
the house and carport are two separate structures.
The proposed addition to the carport to form a secure store/garaging facility is
modest and would not increase the scale of the structure to such a degree that it
would become dominant or overbearing. It would remain subservient to the main
house. Given that the eastern elevation of the proposed store would be finished in
timber cladding, the resulting appearance would be very similar to the existing
carport.
Accordingly, for the reasons above, I find the proposal would not harm the character
and appearance of the existing dwelling or surrounding area. As such it would be in
accordance with the aims of policy D1 of the Guildford Borough Local Plan 20152034, Policy G5 of the Guildford Borough Local Plan 2003, and Policy EH-H7 of the
East Horsley Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033 that seek to deliver good design and
protect the character and appearance of the existing dwelling and surrounding area.
The appeal site is next to Forest Farmhouse, a Grade II listed building. Section 66(1)
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires me to
give special regard to preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.
Forest Farmhouse is located in a residential area and the houses on Forest Road form
part of its setting, as well as the area’s verdant and open character. It is set forward
of the neighbouring properties, much closer to the road, which makes it prominent in
the street scene with the neighbouring properties and planting providing a backdrop.
It is the open and verdant setting that is significant in relation to this appeal.
The appeal property and Forest Farmhouse are separated by a relatively tall
landscape boundary. This, together with the set back of the appeal property and its
carport, maintains the open and verdant character of the area. Given this, and the
modest scale of the proposal, I conclude that there would be no harm to the setting
of the listed building or its significance as a designated heritage asset.
I can understand that development being undertaken prior to it being permitted may
cause frustration. However, while this can be a material consideration, I have
concluded the proposal does not harm the character and appearance of the existing
dwelling or surrounding area.
Concerns have been raised that the proposal would allow the expansion of the
appellants picture framing business that is operated from the appeal property and
that this would result in an increase in noise and traffic. However, I have determined
this appeal on the basis of the proposal for a domestic extension.
I understand that the outlook from the neighbouring property, Kennan, may have
changed as a result of development. However, as stated in the Officer’s report, the
walls of concern already benefit from planning permission and are not subject of this
appeal. The Council have concluded that the alteration from the approved hipped
roof to a gable ended roof would not result in any material effect on the residential
amenity of the neighbour. I have no reason to depart from these conclusions.
With regard to the above, I find that the proposal would be in accordance with the
development plan, read as a whole. It has not been demonstrated that there are any
Page 70

Agenda item number: 6

material considerations of sufficient weight to indicate that a decision should be
taken otherwise in accordance with it.
2.

Mr Mark Essex
82 he Street, West Horsley, KT24 6BE
21/P/00913 – The development proposed is a front porch adaptation, two storey side
extension, part single-part two storey rear extension and loft conversion.
Delegated Decision – To Refuse
Decision – ALLOWED
Summary of Inspector’s Conclusions:
 The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the
existing dwelling.
 The appeal property is located on The Street, a main road running through West
Horsley. It forms one half of a semi-detached pair, although its plot is wider and
larger than its attached neighbour. The front of the appeal site is currently open,
however, the house is set back from the road meaning its effect on the street scene is
limited.
 The submitted plans show the existing house had a study at ground floor level, which
projected forward past the principal front elevation of the house. To the side there
was an existing workshop and carport. The front of the carport was almost flush with
the front elevation of the study. Above the study, the first floor was stepped back
past the principal front elevation.
 The proposed side extension, at ground and first floor, would be in line with the
principal elevation, rather than flush with the front projection of the former study,
like the carport, or set back like the former first floor. The roof line would also be
contiguous, which would create a fairly bulky building form.
 While this means that the proposal would not appear subservient to the existing
house, it would not be overly dominant. I understand that it is normally expected for
extensions to be designed to be subservient additions, as set out in the Council’s
Residentials Extensions and Alterations Supplementary Planning Document (2018).
However, in this case, the resulting front elevation would be more balanced than the
existing and would respect the form of the existing house by strengthening the
principal elevation. Furthermore, the punctuation at ground floor level of the
proposed porch, formally the study, and the existing bay window, which is being
retained, would break up the elevation and provide visual interest.
 Although, the footprint of the overall proposal is relatively large compared to the
plans of the existing dwelling, the scale of the additions would not be viewed as one.
Each elevation would be proportional to the existing house and would not appear
excessive or overbearing due to the design and the size of the plot.
 Accordingly, for the reasons above, I find the proposal would not harm the character
and appearance of the existing dwelling. As such it would be in accordance with the
aims of policies H8 and D1 of the Guildford Borough Local Plan and Policy WH2 of the
West Horsley Neighbourhood Plan that seek to deliver high quality design that
protects the character and appearance of the existing dwelling and surrounding area.
 The appeal property and its attached neighbour are similar in their form. However,
there are existing differences, such as the appeal property’s carport, workshop and
larger plot size, which already unbalance the pair to some degree. As such, and given

Page 71

Agenda item number: 6









that the proposal would respect the existing dwelling, there would be no harm to the
appearance of the pair of dwellings.
The southern section of The Street is within the West Horsley Conservation Area
(WHCA). At the location of the appeal property the boundary of the WHCA runs
downs the centre of the road with the buildings to the west being within it and the
buildings to the east just outside. The appeal property is located on the east side of
The Street and therefore lies just outside.
Concerns have also been raised regarding construction activities and the effect works
at the appeal property may have on the attached neighbouring property.
Understandable though these concerns are, any damage caused to property during
construction would be a private matter between the parties involved. Any vibration,
noise and disturbance associated with construction, including the parking of
construction and delivery vehicles, would be for a temporary period only and,
therefore, of very limited weight. Given the relatively moderate scale of the
development, it is not necessary, to require approval of any details regarding the
activities on site during the construction phase.
In addition to the standard time limit condition, a plans condition is required in the
interests of certainty. In order to protect the character and appearance of the
existing house, a condition is necessary to clarify the external materials used in the
construction of the extensions to match.
With regard to the above, I find that the proposal would be in accordance with the
development plan, read as a whole. It has not been demonstrated that there are any
material considerations of sufficient weight to indicate that a decision should be
taken otherwise in accordance with it.

3. Mr and Mrs P Good
Orange Grove, Littleton Lane, Guildford, GU3 1HN
21/P/00507 – The development proposed is the conversion of an ancillary outbuilding and a
single storey attached extension for the purposes of providing 'Wellness' facilities serving
the main house, together with associated external works alterations.
Delegated Decision – To Refuse
Decision – ALLOWED
Summary of Inspector’s Conclusions:
 The main issues are whether the proposal would be inappropriate development in
the Green Belt for the purposes of the National Planning Policy Framework (the
Framework) and Development Plan Policy;
 if found to be inappropriate development, the effect of the proposal on
openness and the purpose of including the land in the Green Belt and whether the
harm by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by
other considerations, so as to amount to the very special circumstances necessary to
justify the development.

Page 72

Agenda item number: 6















The appeal site comprises of a large, two-storey detached property, along with a number of
ancillary buildings and intervening landscaping, situated within a generous curtilage within
the Metropolitan Green Belt. It is within the Littleton Conservation Area (LCA) and the
surrounding area is rural in character with a mixture of property types, some of which are
listed. The proposal seeks permission to extend the outbuilding to accommodate wellness
facilities to serve the main house.
Some outbuildings may be considered as extensions to a main dwelling on the basis that
they are normal domestic adjuncts. Given the modest size and use of the existing
outbuilding to which the extension is proposed, and its close proximity to the main house, it
appears to be a ‘normal domestic adjunct’. Therefore, it would be appropriate that any
extensions to this building, for the purpose of Green Belt calculations, are not considered in
isolation but collectively with the main house.
The planning history provided by the Council indicates that the building permitted in 2014
replaced an agricultural workers cottage. The site visit confirmed that this building is
situated a considerable distance from the main dwelling, is serviced by its own driveway
and hardstanding and is separated from the main house by an extensive landscaped garden.
Therefore, it should not be considered on the same basis as the outbuilding, as a ‘normal
domestic adjunct’, and should not be included in the Green Belt calculations.
Although a full detailed planning history is not before me, the evidence indicates that the
main house has not been significantly extended and that the works that have taken place
are largely due to the conversion and alterations of the existing buildings. The appellant has
provided some calculations from an officer report for a previous application, and as
indicated above, the 2014 development should be discounted from these totals.
Whilst the proposed extension would significantly increase the footprint, mass, bulk and
volume of the outbuilding, it would still remain a modest development when considered in
conjunction with the main dwelling. The extension would be set fairly far back to the side of
the property and largely hidden from the street scene, due to its relationship with the main
dwelling. There have been some contemporary alterations to the main dwelling and the
proposed development would not appear out of character within this context.
For the reasons given above, the proposal would not be inappropriate
development in the Green Belt and therefore would accord with Policy P2 of Guildford
borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034, adopted 2019, and the provisions of the
Framework, specifically Chapter 13. As a result, the proposal would, by definition, not have
an adverse impact on the openness of the Green Belt or the purposes of including land
within it. Furthermore, there is no requirement to assess if there are other considerations
that amount to very special circumstances.
The proposal would accord with the Development Plan when it is considered as a whole.
For the reasons given above, I recommend the appeal should be allowed.

4.

Mr Peter Franks
Peartree Cottage, Holmbury Hill Road, Holmbury St Mary, RH5 6NP
21/P/01310 – The development proposed is described as a “Rear extension and interior
remodelling of Pear Tree Cottage.
Delegated Decision – To Refuse
Decision – ALLOWED
Summary of Inspector’s Conclusions:
 The main issue is whether the proposal would be inappropriate in the Green Belt for
the purposes of the development plan and the National Planning Policy Framework
(2021) (the Framework); and
 if the proposal would be inappropriate development, whether it would

Page 73

Agenda item number: 6













affect openness, and whether the harm by reason of inappropriateness,
and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations so as
to amount to the very special circumstances necessary to justify it.
Paragraph 147 of the Framework states that inappropriate development is, by
definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very
special circumstances. Paragraph 149 states that the construction of new buildings
should be regarded as inappropriate in the Green Belt, with the exception of,
among other things, the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does
not result in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original
building. The Framework defines ‘original building’ as the building as it existed on 1
July 1948 or, if constructed after this date, as it was built originally. Policy P2 of the
Guildford borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015 – 2034 (April 2019) (the Local
Plan) largely reflects the policy
provided in the Framework.
The property is a modest bungalow, sited on a residential road in a quiet village with
verdant rural surroundings. The site features a spacious garden that declines in
elevation away from the house, and the property is comfortably separated from its
neighbours. The dwelling has been previously extended, increasing the floor area by
35.6%. This is not disputed between parties. However, the Council state that when
including the proposal, the floor area would be increased by 70.4% from the original
building, whereas the appellant suggests that the previous extension together with
the proposal would only amount to a 63% increase.
Whilst an increase in the floor area of 70.4% would be relatively significant, a
percentage increase in floor area is not the only relevant consideration. The overall
effect of the extensions in combination would not be proportionally excessive. The
proposal would include a small flat-roof infill extension that would have a negligible
effect on the form of the property. The rest of the extension would be relatively
limited in its effect on the property as a whole. It would be located towards the
middle of the property at the rear, and would follow the pitched form of the roof
together with the addition of one smaller flat-roof element. The general form of the
dwelling overall would therefore remain largely unchanged.
For these reasons, the proposal would not be inappropriate development. It would
therefore accord with Policy P2 of the Local Plan and the Framework. As the proposal
does not amount to inappropriate development, the proposal would not by definition
have an adverse impact on the openness of the Green Belt, and there is no
requirement to assess if there are other considerations that amount to very special
circumstances.
Conditions relating to the commencement of the development, and that the
development adheres to the plans submitted, are recommended in order to provide
certainty. A condition ensuring the external materials match the existing building
would be necessary in the interests of the character and appearance of the host
dwelling and the surrounding area.
The proposal is therefore seen to conform with the development plan as a
whole. Based on the above, and having regard to all matters raised, I
recommend that the appeal should be allowed.

Page 74

Agenda item number: 6

5. Mr P Nelson
Norney Rough, Shackleford Road, Shackleford, GU8 6AE
21/P/00540 – The development proposed is the construction of an outdoor swimming pool
together with an ancillary plant room and changing room building.
Delegated Decision – To Refuse
Decision – ALLOWED
Summary of Inspector’s Conclusions:
 The main parties agree the outdoor swimming pool element of the proposal would
constitute engineering operations and so is a form of development that is not
inappropriate to the Green Belt, as set out in paragraph 150 of the National Planning
Policy Framework 2021 (the Framework). The main issue is, therefore, whether or
not the proposed plant room and changing room building (pool house) would be
inappropriate development in the Green Belt.
 Shackleford is a loosely formed rural settlement constituting mainly large,
detached properties within spacious plots set back from the road often enclosed
with tall mature hedging. Norney Rough is one such property situated and to the
rear and one side are other similar residential properties. On the other side, over
School Lane is St Mary’s infant school, with the village hall and church beyond. To
the front, over Shackleford Road, is a farm and open fields.
 The appeal site is broadly central to the rear garden of Norney Rough and is
surrounded by the main house, a detached 3 bay garage with first floor rooms
above, an outside kitchen, a tennis court enclosed by fencing, as well as numerous
other garden structures.
 Paragraphs 149 and 150 of the Framework set out what is not considered
inappropriate development in the Green Belt. The proposed pool house would
constitute a new building which does not fall under paragraph 150. Policy P2 of the
Guildford Borough Local Plan 2015-2034 (Local Plan) refers directly to paragraph
149 of the Framework and defines specific elements of the 7 exceptions to
inappropriate new buildings in the Green Belt. Both the Framework and Local Plan
Policy P2 do not specifically refer to residential outbuildings, of which the proposed
pool house would be.
 The Council, therefore, consider the proposed pool house to be inappropriate
development within the Green Belt. The appellant refutes this position contesting
that the pool house would fall under paragraph 149b) of the Framework,
constituting the provision of appropriate facilities for outdoor sport and outdoor
recreation. They have also submitted several decisions by the Council which
support this position.
 Neither Policy P2 nor the Framework state that in the context of paragraph 149b)
the outdoor sport or recreation facility cannot be for private use. Theproposed
pool house would therefore constitute a new building which would provide
appropriate facilities (changing room and plant room) for outdoor sport and
outdoor recreation, the proposed swimming pool.
 However, paragraph 149b) also requires that the proposed facilities preserve the
openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land
within it.
 The appeal site is within the domestic garden of Norney Rough surrounded by
other ancillary buildings. Norney Rough is within the rural village setting of

Page 75

Agenda item number: 6











Shackleford and Shackleford Road provides a clear boundary between this part of
the settlement and the more rural and open character beyond.
The proposed pool house would be screened from view by the existing garden
structures at Norney Rough, as well as the mature boundary hedging. There would
be potential of glimpsed views from upper floors of adjacent properties, but these
would be within a backdrop of existing residential development and are not
uninterrupted and open. As such I am satisfied that the proposal would not visually
intrude into the openness of the Green Belt.
However, openness is not purely visual and has a spatial aspect. The proposal
would be within an existing, albeit low density, settlement and would not encroach
beyond a defendable and clearly defined edge of that development, Shackleford
Road. Therefore, I am also satisfied that the proposal would not spatially intrude
into the openness of the Green Belt.
The fundamental aim of Green Belt is to prevent urban sprawl. The location of the
proposal within a rural settlement means it would not encroach into the wider
countryside and so not contribute to urban sprawl nor the merging of separate
settlements.
The proposed pool house would not therefore constitute inappropriate
development in the Green Belt. It would comply with Local Plan Policy P2 and
paragraphs 147 -149 of the Framework. Consequently, it is unnecessary to consider
whether very special circumstances need be applied.
For the reasons given above, having considered the development plan as a whole
along with all other relevant material considerations, including the approach in the
Framework, I conclude that the appeal should be allowed.

6. Mr Nadeem Ahmad
27 Old Palace Road, Guildford, GU2 7TU
21/P/01555 – The development proposed is conversion of garage door to window, single
storey rear fill-in extension and first-floor side extension with roof alterations for loft
conversion.
Delegated Decision – To Refuse
Decision – ALLOWED
Summary of Inspector’s Conclusions:
 The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the
street scene and surrounding area.
 Old Palace Road is a wide road, consisting predominantly of 2 storey semi-detached
houses set back from the street on fairly large plots. The width of the road, and
moderate scale and set back of the properties provides a sense of spaciousness.
 Every house is set back a similar distance, which forms a strong and consistent front
building line. Most of the front gardens include an element of hardstanding for
parking as well as shrubs and flowers. Hedges are also a common front boundary
treatment. Together, this creates an open and green character.
 The houses on the south side of Old Palace Road, which include the appeal property,
have a more consistent appearance than those on the north side. Although there are
slight variations in their scale and form, they have similar materials and features,
including 2-storey bay windows, which create a rhythm along the street and a degree
Page 76

Agenda item number: 6















of uniformity. It is the group of houses on the south side of Old Palace Road,
particularly those between Scillonian Road and Iveagh Road, which the appeal
property contributes to.
There are regular, albeit variable, gaps between the houses along the road. Some of
the gaps close to the appeal property are comparatively narrow. The gaps are a
feature of the street that add to its uniformity and rhythm. However, the size of the
gaps is less important than their regularity. I saw that the open and green character is
more a result of the width of the street and set back of the properties as described
above.
Several of the houses along the road have been extended to the side, which has
resulted in some wider frontages, smaller gaps between properties and differing roof
profiles. However, this has had a relatively limited and neutral effect on the character
and appearance of the street scene.
The proposed extension, as viewed from the street, would be of a modest scale and
stepped back at first floor level. Given this, it would not be visually dominant and
would appear as a subservient addition. Furthermore, its simple design and matching
materials would respect the existing dwelling. While the form of the main roof would
change, the hipped form added by the roof of the extension would be in keeping with
the character of the street.
I accept that the proposal would result in the loss of some of the gap between the
host property and its neighbour at first floor level. I also acknowledge that the
Council’s Extensions and Alterations Supplementary Planning Document 2018 (SPD),
whilst guidance, seeks to avoid a terracing effect where that would detrimentally
affect local character, recommending a separation between properties of one metre
or more.
Although the proposal in this instance would extend to within 1 metre of the
neighbouring property, that would only be fractionally so. As I have set out above the
characteristic spaciousness of the area only derives in small part from gaps between
properties, which are variable rather than uniform. In that context, and as the
proposal would be set back from the principal elevation, it would have little
meaningful effect on openness and would not create an adverse terracing effect.
Moreover, I saw, notwithstanding the guidance in the SPD, that side extensions of
varying forms have over time become somewhat characteristic of the area.
The appeal property and its attached neighbour are quite similar in form. Both have
single storey garage extensions to the side. The proposal would unbalance the pair
and it may be that in isolation this would cause some harm. However, there are
already a few unbalanced pairs along the road and on neighbouring streets,
therefore, given it is characteristic of the area, the overall effect of the proposal is
limited. The effect is also further reduced by the tall hedge that forms part of the
front boundary treatment of the appeal property, which restricts, to a degree, views
of the pair as a whole. Given the area is characterised by good sized plots, mature
gardens and established landscaping, in my view such features are highly likely to
remain in a similar form for aesthetics, privacy and consistency with local character.
Accordingly, for the reasons above, I find the proposal would integrate appropriately
with the character and appearance of the street scene and surrounding area. As such
it would be in accordance with the relevant provisions of policy D1 of the Guildford
Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2019 and policies G1, G5 and H8 of the

Page 77

Agenda item number: 6



Guildford Borough Local Plan 2003 that, in summary, seek to protect the character
and appearance of the area.
For the reasons above, having taken account of the development plan as a whole
along with all other relevant material considerations, I conclude that the appeal
should be allowed subject to the conditions set out above.

7. Mr J Brooks
115 Addison Road, Guildford, Surrey, GU1 3QE
21/P/01191 – The development proposed is the erection of a two-storey side extension and
single storey rear extension.
Delegated Decision – To Refuse
Decision – DISMISSED
Summary of Inspector’s Conclusions:
 The main issue is the effect of the proposed development on the character and
appearance of the host dwelling and the Charlotteville & Warren Road
Conservation Area (CWRCA).
 The appeal site is a semi-detached two-storey dwelling, located in the CWRCA. The
site is set back and elevated from the public highway with intervening landscaping
and is accessed by a set of steps. The surrounding area is residential, and
properties vary in design. The application is for the erection of a two-storey side
and rear extension and a single storey rear extension.
 The proposed two storey extension would extend the width of the property toward
the neighbouring boundary and introduce a porch, under which the front door
would be relocated. Both the extension and the porch would be set back from the
principal elevation and sit within the ridge height of the existing dwelling. The
extension would be constructed in matching materials to the main dwelling.
 From the street scene, views would almost be limited to when the development is
observed from directly in front of the property. However, the development would
add bulk at both ground and first floor level, which would alter the architectural
character of the property and cause an imbalance with the adjoining property
when viewed from the public domain. Although the style of the properties on
Addison Road vary, the appeal site and 113 Addison Road appear as a pair.
 The rear of the extension would adjoin the existing two storey rear outrigger and
sit flush with the rear elevation, creating a valley roof with a matching ridge height.
The extension would fail to appear subservient to the main dwelling and would
appear incongruous when seen within the context of the adjoining property.
Furthermore, the extension would project beyond the original side elevation of the
property, and this increase in width and additional bulk would further unbalance
the semi-detached pair and undermine the symmetry. Though views would be
limited, the alterations would be visible from the rear gardens of neighbouring
properties within the CWRCA.
 For the reasons given above, the proposed development would cause harm to the
character and appearance of the host dwelling and the CWRCA. As the
development would only be seen from a small part of the conservation area, it
would cause less than substantial harm to the significance of it. There are no public
benefits that would outweigh the harm that has been identified. The development
would therefore fail to comply with Policy HE71 which requires new development

Page 78

Agenda item number: 6





within a Conservation Area (CA) to preserve or enhance the character and
appearance of the CA.
The Council have cited Policy G5(7) in their reason for refusal. However, as this
relates to the use of materials and the proposed development would match the
existing materials of the dwelling and those nearby, it is not considered that the
development would conflict with this particular Policy.
For the reasons given above and having had regard to all other matters raised, I
recommend that the appeal should be dismissed.

8. Mr Mark Evans
Pheonix Cottage, Effingham Common Road, Effingham, KT24 5JG
21/P/01758 – The development proposed is the construction of a detached garage.
Delegated Decision – To Refuse
Decision – DISMISSED
Summary of Inspector’s Conclusions:
 The main issue whether the proposal constitutes inappropriate development in the
Green Belt for the purposes of the National Planning Policy Framework (the
Framework) and development plan policies;
 the effect of the proposal on the openness of the Green Belt.
 would the harm by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, be clearly
outweighed by other considerations so as to amount to the very
special circumstances required to justify the proposal.
 The appeal site is a detached dwelling with a garage to its north that is situated
within a generous plot on the north-eastern side of Effingham Common Road. There
are limited public views of the site due to mature vegetation along the boundaries of
the plot. The submitted documents show that there is an extant permission for a
large side and rear extension at the property1; during my visit I noted this had not yet
been implemented.
 The large, detached garage would be positioned in front of the main dwelling and
would incorporate a barn-hipped roof with cedar shingles. There would be log stores
to the north-east and south-west elevations. The proposal would be located
approximately 5.6 metres away from the dwelling.
 Paragraph 147 of the Framework establishes that inappropriate development is, by
definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very
special circumstances. Paragraph 149 outlines that the construction of new buildings
should be regarded as inappropriate, save for a number of exceptions. One of these
is the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building.
 The proposed garage would be situated a short distance from the main dwelling. Its
scale would be domestic, and it would have a functional and close physical and visual
relationship with the main dwelling. The proposal would therefore appear as a
normal domestic adjunct and is considered as an extension to the dwelling.
 The extant permission for the large side and rear extension would add considerable
bulk to the original dwelling across ground and first floor levels. When considered in
combination with this approved scheme, the proposed garage would have an overly
large footprint and height. As such, it would result in a disproportionate addition over
and above the size of the original building, thus failing to meet the requirements of
Page 79

Agenda item number: 6













the Framework. While the dimensions of the proposal have been revised from a
previously refused scheme2, the overall size of the development would still be
inappropriate in this context.
If the extant permission were to be implemented, the proposed garage would have a
smaller size in proportion to the main dwelling. However, the Framework directs me
to consider the impact of additions to the original building. There is no mechanism
within the appeal documents to prevent the approved scheme from being
implemented, and so I must consider the impact if both schemes were built. Given
that the side and rear extension would remove the existing garage and the facilities it
provides, there is a reasonable likelihood that both schemes would be implemented
together.
Overall, the proposal would result in a disproportionate addition over and above the
size of the original building. As such, it would conflict with the Framework and Policy
P2 of the Guildford borough Local Plan: strategy and sites 2015-2034 (Local Plan),
adopted April 2019, which seeks to prevent inappropriate development in the Green
Belt.
Paragraph 137 of the Framework sets out that the fundamental aim of Green Belt
policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential
characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence.
Although the proposal would not be particularly visible from the public realm or
neighbouring properties due to the existing mature vegetation, it would be visible
from the appeal site. The proposed garage would be a large additional structure to
the site, which would detract from the openness of the Green Belt.
However, due to its limited visibility and close association with the main
dwelling, the impact on openness would be modest.
The proposal comprises inappropriate development in the Green Belt which is, by
definition, harmful to the Green Belt. The limited harm to openness is also added to
this harm. Paragraph 148 of the Framework specifies that substantial weight should
be given to any harm to the Green Belt and that very special circumstances will not
exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt is clearly outweighed by other
considerations. As mentioned above, the other considerations do not carry significant
positive weight and so do not clearly outweigh the harm identified. As such, the very
special circumstances that would be needed to justify the proposal do not exist.
I have considered all the submitted evidence and the Appeal Planning Officer’s report
and on that basis the appeal is dismissed.

9. Isabelle Duncan
Cherrymans, Shophouse Lane, Albury, GU5 9EG
20/P/02092 – The development proposed is erection of single storey extension and
alterations to the existing outbuilding.
Delegated Decision – To Refuse
Decision – DISMISSED
Summary of Inspector’s Conclusions:
 The main issues are whether the proposal would be inappropriate development in
the Green Belt having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); and
 The effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the host outbuilding
and adjoining outbuildings.

Page 80

Agenda item number: 6















Paragraph 149 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) states
that new buildings are inappropriate in the Green Belt unless they fall within the
given list of exceptions. Policy P2 of the Guildford borough Local Plan: strategy and
sites 2015-2034 (Adopted 25th April 2019) (the ‘Local Plan’) echoes this statement
and defers to the Framework with regard to exceptions. One exception in the
Framework is the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result
in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building. Having
regard to extensions to buildings, Policy P2 of the Local Plan states that the “original
building” shall mean the building as it existed on 1 July 1948, which is consistent with
the definition as set out in Annex 2 of the Framework.
The term ‘disproportionate additions’ is neither defined in the Framework, nor is
there a defined way of assessing and measuring proportionality set out within the
development plan. It is held therefore that this is a matter for the decision maker to
determine in the context of whether the extension would be disproportionate, albeit
that with the reference to ‘size’ as set out in the Framework, this could reasonably
refer to volume, height, external dimensions, footprint, floorspace or visual
perception.
The Council consider that the proposed single storey extension to the outbuilding
would represent a disproportionate addition based upon a clear indication provided
by the extent of the floor area increase. In this regard, I note there is some
considerable variance in the calculations of the percentage increase in floor area
between the parties. The appellant has indicated the proposed percentage uplift in
floor area over the original building would be 21.5%, whilst the Council’s calculations
conclude an uplift of 185.5%.
It would appear from the evidence before me that the Council have made a
significant error when calculating the percentage uplift in floor area, even based
upon the figures set out in their own calculations in the Planning Officer’s Report.
However, even allowing for any variation in the appellant’s figures due to differing
calculations from the Council on the original Gross External Area (GEA) and whether
the lean-to is included within the baseline figures or not, from the evidence
submitted, the appellant has provided a more reasonable basis for the calculation.
Despite the dispute, this calculation cannot be solely relied upon to assess
proportionality, but it does provide an appropriate indication of proportionality of
the proposed development. Whilst the proposed extension would create additional
floorspace, the width of the extension is modest and would follow the line of the
existing ‘lean to’. In addition, part of the proposals would result in the removal of an
oil tank and compound located next to the outbuilding, which is currently a
significant and bulky feature within the courtyard.
On this basis, I do not therefore consider that the proposals would represent a
disproportionate addition over and above the size of the original building, and it
would therefore not be inappropriate development in the Green Belt as defined by
the Framework. The proposals are therefore in accordance with Policy P2 of the Local
Plan.
The outbuilding is part of a group of traditional farm buildings arranged around a
gravel courtyard. The outbuildings are all clad in dark painted featheredged timber
boarding with pitched clay tile roofs and appear as a unified group. The courtyard
and group of outbuildings are visible from outside the entrance to St Michael’s

Page 81

Agenda item number: 6










Church, a small converted barn building at the top of an unmade track that runs
adjacent to the appeal property.
I note that the majority of modern additions such as the proposed roof lights and bifold doors face the main house and garden of the appeal property, away from the
courtyard, adjoining outbuildings and public view, and I do not consider the design or
arrangement of these more modern additions would harm the character and
appearance of the outbuilding or the group of adjoining outbuildings. I can
appreciate that the design alterations proposed seek to link contemporary design
with the rural setting and the use of complementary stained timber to clad the
extension would help to unify it with the outbuilding and the group.
However, although the proposed extension is modest and the overall ridge height of
the outbuilding would not increase, the proposed eaves height would be set above
the existing eaves height of the outbuilding, disrupting the current roof form and
resulting in an awkward design detail. Due to the detailed design and height of the
eaves, the extension, when viewed from the entrance to the courtyard would appear
to overwhelm the original outbuilding and to some extent the adjoining outbuilding.
The flat roof nature of the extension would contrast unfavourably with and
detrimentally alter the shape and form of the group of outbuildings.
On the basis of the above, I conclude that the proposal would cause unacceptable
harm to the character and appearance of the outbuilding and adjoining outbuildings,
as such, it would conflict with Local Plan Policy D1 which seeks, amongst other things
to ensure development achieves high quality design. It would also conflict with saved
Policy G5 of the Guildford Borough Local Plan 2003 (Adopted January 2003) which
seeks, amongst other things, to ensure new development protects the character and
appearance of buildings and the surrounding environment. It would also conflict with
the Framework in so far as it requires that development should add to the overall
quality of an area and should be sympathetic to local character.
The proposal would also not accord with the Council's Residential Extensions and
Alterations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 2018 which states that
extensions should be designed to complement the existing roof and be subordinate.
I have considered all the submitted evidence and the Appeal Planning Officer’s report
and on that basis the appeal is dismissed.

10. Mr Andrew Gibson
Newlynds, Brackendene, Ash, Surrey, GU12 6BN
21/P/02710 – The development proposed is a new double garage including workshop/store
and bin storage on existing driveway. To occupy approximately half the current
drive/parking area. Construction to be of concrete block rendered, pebble dashed and
painted. To match finish and colour of the main house. Roof to be pitched and tiled with
clay tiles selected to match existing house roof. Rainwater recovery tank to be installed to
store water for use in the garden collected from new roof. External areas to retain gravel no additional hard paving/paving blocks to be added.
Delegated Decision – To Refuse
Decision – DISMISSED
Summary of Inspector’s Conclusions:
 The main issue is the effect of the proposed development on the character and
appearance of the area.

Page 82

Agenda item number: 6













Brackendene is an unadopted and narrow unmade road lined with dwellings of a
variety of architectural styles. Whilst the building lines vary, the dwellings are
generously setback from the road, separated by front lawns and driveways.
Collectively, this creates an informal character to the street scene and,
notwithstanding the prominence of hedges and trees along Brackendene, there is a
prevailing sense of spaciousness.
Contributing to the distinctive local character, the host dwelling is substantially
setback with a large front garden and boundary hedge fronting Brackendene. Close
to the boundary with the road, the proposed development would be sited
significantly forward of the host dwelling. The proposed development would also
extend clearly beyond the main building lines of neighbouring dwellings and
marginally beyond two adjacent outbuildings, which are modest in size in comparison
to the proposed development. The proposed development would therefore appear
as a departure from the prevailing character of the area and would be incongruous in
this regard. Owing to the scale of the garage, together with the encroachment
significantly beyond the main building lines, the proposed development would
unacceptably erode the spatial character of Brackendene and interrupt the
relationship between dwellings and adjoining open spaces.
I recognise that the proposed development would use materials to match the
appearance of the host dwelling and the roof design would reflect other roofs
observed on Brackendene. I have also had regard to the appellant’s stated desire to
retain the hedge on the front boundary as a means of providing a degree of screening
and to curtail views of the development.
Despite this, there is no evidence before me to indicate that the hedge would be
maintained in its current size and form, or a suggested means of securing such an
outcome. In any event, whilst in the existing state observed during the site visit, the
front boundary hedge of the host dwelling and a tree beyond the curtilage of the
property would provide a degree of screening of the proposed development, it would
nevertheless be a prominent feature from either direction along Brackendene due to
its scale. The proposed development would therefore appear as a visually intrusive
feature.
The Council’s delegated report refers to harm from the proposed development on
the character and appearance of the host dwelling in terms of the legibility of the
principal elevation. However, the Council’s grounds for refusal, as set out in the
decision notice, refers solely to the character and appearance of the area.
Nevertheless, I observed that the host dwelling would be seen in the context of the
neighbouring dwellings, including 87 Guildford Road, and these do not obscure the
principal elevation of the host dwelling. However, notwithstanding the large scale of
the host dwelling, the proposed development would interrupt and detract from its
legibility due to the scale and visual prominence from Brackendene. I am therefore in
agreement with the Council’s view regarding the impact on the host dwelling.
The appellant has brought to my attention the nearby ‘Wildflower Meadow’
development and a strategic location for development for approximately 1,750
homes. Whilst I recognise that these would contribute to the urban character of the
area beyond Brackendene, these are of a considerably different scale and context to
the proposed development. These cited examples therefore do not represent the
same circumstances nor could be regarded as directly comparable to the character

Page 83

Agenda item number: 6







and appearance of Brackendene and thus the specific context of the proposed
development.
For the reasons above, the proposed development would harm the character and
appearance of the area. The proposed development would be contrary to Policy D1
of the Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategies and Sites (2019) and saved Policy G5
of the Guildford Borough Local Plan (2003). Collectively, these policies seek high
quality design that reflect the distinctive local character and patterns of
development, together with setting out design requirements to protect and enhance
the built environment. Overall, the proposed development would also not accord
with the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document (SPD): Residential Extensions
and Alterations (2018), which seeks to avoid garages in highly prominent locations in
front of the building line.
I sympathise with the appellant’s desire for secure parking and storage facilities,
together with the constraints arising from the position of the host dwelling within the
curtilage of the property. However, this does not outweigh the harm which I have
identified to the character and appearance of the area. The proposed development
therefore conflicts with the development plan taken as a whole and there are no
other considerations, including the National Planning Policy Framework, that
outweigh this conflict.
For the reasons given above and having had regard to all other matters raised, I
recommend that the appeal should be dismissed.

11. Mr and Mrs Little
Garages, Land to rear of Bishopsmead Parade, East Horsley, KT24 6DH
20/P/01725 – The development proposed is described as ‘Removal of 13 existing purpose
built garages. Replace with erection of terrace of three dwellings and associated parking.
Construction of refuse and cycle store’.
Delegated Decision – To Refuse
Decision – DISMISSED
Summary of Inspector’s Conclusions:
 The appeal was submitted due to the Council failing to make a decision within an
agreed period of time. Based on the submitted policies, my site visit, and
representations from the parties; I consider the main issues to be the effect of the
development on (i) the character and appearance of the surrounding area; (ii) the
living conditions of future occupiers, with particular regard to outlook, light, privacy
and provision of outdoor space; and (iii) the living conditions of neighbouring
occupiers at Chown Court, with particular regard to privacy.
 The site comprises garages to the rear of a traditional row of shops on Bishopsmead
Parade. In addition to other uses, residential development is present to the rear of
the shops. This includes the modern Chown Court apartment complex opposite the
site, and more traditional dwellings behind on Bishopsmead Drive. In general, this
residential development is situated on generous plots with outdoor space and gaps
between properties.
 The proposal would replace the garages with three terraced dwellings. Although
modern compared to the shops, it would be experienced alongside the Chown Court
complex and would pick up on design details from dwellings on Bishopsmead Drive
and the wider vicinity. In this general sense, it would not appear out of place. While

Page 84

Agenda item number: 6















the Council has also raised concerns that the rear elevation would comprise a blank
façade, this would be largely screened from view so as not to appear as a dominant
mass of built form in the area.
However, the proposal would be constructed close to the site boundaries, with
limited useable rear space due to trees. In addition, its terraced nature would leave
no gaps between the dwellings. Despite its varied façade and parking spaces, it would
appear squeezed onto the site and read as a cramped form of development. This
sense would be heightened by the more spacious plots present in surrounding
residential development, such that the proposal would read as incongruous and
contrived in this context.
In contrast to the rear, the front elevation of the proposal would be highly visible in
the immediate vicinity. The positioning of sparse windows and the high terrace walls
would result in sizeable areas of unbroken brick and stonework on this façade, which
would be an imposing addition to the street. It is acknowledged that this design is to
address potential overlooking but would nonetheless further accentuate the
contrived nature of the dwellings, highlighting the unsuitable nature of the
development in this location.
For the reasons given above, the proposal would have an adverse effect on the
character and appearance of the surrounding area. As such, it would fail to comply
with Policy D1 of the Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2015 - 2034
(adopted 25 April 2019), Policy G5 of the Guildford Borough Local Plan 2003, the
Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Guidance July 2004 and the
National Planning Policy Framework, which together seek to ensure good design.
To address potential overlooking, no windows would be present along the rear of the
proposal, with fenestration positioned exclusively along the side and front elevations.
In the main living space at first floor, each dwelling would be served by bi-folding
glass doors facing the terrace. It is acknowledged that these terraces are of limited
size, such that the view from these doors would look directly onto the nearby tall,
solid walls that enclose the outdoor space.
With regards to Unit 1, this living space also contains a large window on the front
elevation looking onto Chown Court, facing the single storey garages opposite, rather
than the apartment complex. This dwelling would also benefit from an additional
window to the side. While the built form of the shops would still be nearby, the
overall combination of fenestration, and particularly the sizeable front window,
ensures the room would not feel enclosed or dark, such that adequate outlook and
light would be provided.
However, the living space of Units 2 and 3 would be served by a narrower front
window which, although long, would have a more restricted outlook such that the
nearby apartments would feel more imposing, particularly given the lack of side
window. Combined with the enclosed outlook from the bi-folding doors, these living
rooms would feel surrounded by nearby structures, leading to a poor and oppressive
outlook that would reduce the enjoyment of the rooms. Due to this enclosure and
the overall reduced amount of fenestration it is likely that there would also be limited
light in these rooms, further contributing to a gloomy living environment.
The windows for the ground floor bedrooms would be directly adjacent to the public
footpath on Chown Court. These would serve rooms where occupiers would expect a
degree of privacy, but would allow clear, unrestricted views into the properties from

Page 85

Agenda item number: 6



















the passing footpath. This would be obtrusive for future occupiers and would erode
their privacy to an unacceptable degree.
While the proposed dwellings would benefit from a private terrace, this would be
restricted to a modest and enclosed area, the size of which would limit its useful
function. The constrained dimensions would be unlikely to comfortably support the
range of uses reasonably expected of such space for a dwelling of this size, such as
sitting out and drying washing. This space would therefore be both cramped and
impractical in the context of the associated dwelling.
For the reasons given above, while the proposal would not have an adverse effect on
the living conditions of the future occupiers of Unit 1 of the proposal with regards to
outlook and light, it would have an adverse effect on the living conditions of future
occupiers of Units 2 and 3 with regards to outlook and light, and of all units with
regards to privacy and the provision of outdoor space. As such, it would fail to comply
with Policy D1 of the Guildford Borough Local Plan: Strategy and Sites 2015 - 2034
(adopted 25 April 2019), Policy G1(3) of the Guildford Borough Local Plan 2003 and
the National Planning Policy Framework, which together seek to ensure adequate
living conditions.
The proposal would be located directly opposite the apartment complex on Chown
Court. Front facing windows at Unit 1 would face the garages opposite, such that no
significant overlooking of the apartments would occur. With regards to Units 2 and 3,
front views from these dwellings would look directly towards windows serving
habitable rooms in the apartments opposite.
However, the largest windows at the proposal would look directly onto the first floor
terrace, providing no views of the building opposite, with other windows being
narrow in nature. In addition, the alignment of the proposed fenestration relative to
the windows at the apartment complex, combined with the separation distance,
would ensure the proposal would not result in significant overlooking so as to unduly
impact the privacy of occupiers at the Chown Court apartments.
For the reasons given above, the proposal would not have an adverse effect on the
living conditions of neighbouring occupiers of Chown Court with particular regard to
privacy. As such, it would comply with Policy G1(3) of the Guildford Borough Local
Plan 2003, which seeks to ensure adequate living conditions.
I have found that the proposal would not cause harm to the living conditions of the
occupiers of Chown Court but would harm the character and appearance of the
surrounding area and to the living conditions of future occupiers. Given the limited
weight afforded to the other matters above, when taken together with the lack of
harm to living conditions of occupiers of Chown Court, they do not outweigh the
significant harm identified to the character and appearance of the surrounding area
and to the living conditions of future occupiers by the proposal.
For the reasons given, the proposal would not accord with the development plan
when taken as a whole. There are no material considerations that indicate the appeal
should be determined other than in accordance with the development plan. I
therefore conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.
COSTS
Mr and Mrs Little against Guildford Borough Council
Decision – REFUSED

Page 86

Agenda item number: 6


















The Planning Practice Guidance advises that costs may be awarded against a party
who has behaved unreasonably and thereby caused the party applying for costs to
incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process.
The application for costs is made on the basis that the Council was unreasonable in
failing to determine the application, such that the applicant was put to the cost of
lodging an appeal against non-determination.
Paragraph 47 of the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) sets out examples of
unreasonable behaviour which may give rise to a procedural award of costs, including
a lack of co-operation with the other party or parties and failure to adhere to
deadlines.
Paragraph 48 of the PPG states that, ‘If it is clear that the local planning authority will
fail to determine an application within the time limits, it should give the applicant a
proper explanation. In any appeal against non-determination, the local planning
authority should explain their reasons for not reaching a decision within the relevant
time limit, and why permission would not have been granted had the application
been determined within the relevant period’.
In this case the application was submitted on 9 October 2020 with an initial target
decision date of 4 December 2020, later extended by agreement between the parties
until 8 January 2021. The evidence indicates that the Council communicated that the
application would have to be determined by the Planning Committee, thus provided
a reason for not reaching a decision within this initial timeframe.
However, from this date there was limited communication from the Council, except
for notification of change in Case Officer and a standard holding letter. I have no
strong evidence before me to refute the applicant’s assertions that no further reason
was given for the delay during this time.
A further extension was then agreed between the parties until 28 September 2021.
After the expiration of this deadline the Council advised the applicant that it had not
been met due to part time working and the volume of casework. Despite further
assurances by the Council that the Officer Report was imminent, the applicant
submitted its appeal.
I accept that the Council did not determine the application within the prescribed
period and that communication was at times sporadic, with deadlines missed.
However, even if this was to amount to unreasonable behaviour I do not consider
that it led to wasted expense on the part of the applicant. Prior to the submission of
the appeal the Council had indicated that its current position was to refuse the
application. As such, even if the application had been determined by the Council, it is
likely that an appeal would have been an inevitable outcome. The applicant, in
choosing to submit the appeal citing non-determination, did not therefore incur any
additional expense.
I therefore find that unreasonable behaviour resulting in unnecessary or wasted
expense, as described in the Planning Practice Guidance, has not been demonstrated.
For the reasons given above, I refuse the application for an award of costs.

Page 87

This page is intentionally left blank

